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Wednesday, April 5, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:53 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Good morning, everyone.  Good morning, panel.  We are sitting today in EB-2016-0152.  I understand, Mr. Smith, there are a few preliminary matters to deal with?
Preliminary Matters:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  There are two.

Just by way of update, we filed yesterday the evidence that the Panel had requested in relation to the capacity refurbishment variance account.  You may have seen that.

MS. LONG:  Yes, I saw that, thank you.

MR. SMITH:  And that was marked at H1, tab 1, schedule 2, I believe.  And then the second item was just to advise that we will be in a position to respond to the undertaking given to Mr. Shepherd yesterday, and we will do that tomorrow in advance of Friday's hearing.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Yauch, are you ready to cross-examine this panel?

MR. YAUCH:  I am.  Good morning.

MS. LONG:  I see we have a compendium here?

MR. YAUCH:  We do, yeah.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  Most of it is on the record, but there are a couple things in there that are --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, let's mark that.

MR. RICHLER:  K19.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K19.1:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR OPG PANEL 5Ai.

MS. LONG:  And the witnesses have that, do they?

MR. COYNE:  We do.

MR. DANE:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Great.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 5Ai, resumed

Dan Dane,
Jim Coyne; Previously Affirmed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Yauch:

MR. YAUCH:  Good morning.  I'm going to start on page 1.  This is from your report.  We've gone over a lot of this already, so I'm not going to belabour the point, but you start with the Board decision in 2007, and the highlighted paragraph says:

"Provincial ownership will not be a factor to be considered by the Board in establishing capital structure."

And the Board hasn't changed that opinion, as far as you know, and you go through all the subsequent decisions, correct?

MR. COYNE:  We have, and we're not aware of any change in that policy.

MR. YAUCH:  So if you go to page 2, you cite the ratings agencies, and while they provide a credit rating based on provincial support, they also give another credit rating if you were to rate it on a stand-alone basis, and they do so because the Board ultimately regulates the company on a stand-alone basis, correct?

MR. COYNE:  Is your question whether or not they provide that stand-alone credit rating on the basis of it being regulated by the Board on a stand-alone basis?

MR. YAUCH:  Right.  If the Board were to change -- if it were to abandon the stand-alone principle would the credit rating agencies also abandon that principle, or do you think they would still provide two different credit ratings?

MR. COYNE:  I don't think it's as much how the
Board -- I think how the Board regulates the company is a factor.  What they're really looking for is the credit support that would come from the province in the case that the company were to run into financial trouble.

So they make a determination as to whether or not the province would be there if times were tough for OPG and really needed an alternative source of capital, and for the province to step in and guarantee that debt.

So they make a judgment concerning that, and that's probably the most primary determination that they're making in terms of establishing the difference between the stand-alone and the -- and its ultimate credit rating.

MR. YAUCH:  If the Board were to move away from the stand-alone principle would it change the way the credit rating agencies view the company?

MR. COYNE:  It could.  It could.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  I won't belabour it.

We can go to page 3, please.  This is a law -- neither one of us are lawyers, so I'm not going to get into it.  This is a law passed last year by the provincial government.  If you go to page 5, I only want to focus on one clause of it.  I have it highlighted on the bottom.

Yes, so part of this law transferred the power of system planning from the Independent Electricity System Organization to the Minister of Energy, to essentially the province.  So you're aware of that change, correct?

MR. COYNE:  Yes.

MR. YAUCH:  And that's different than what we had in 2007.  In 2007 IESO would submit plans to the Board, they would approve them, we'd go from there, but now the Ministry, which is also the main shareholder of OPG, the case rests with them?

MR. COYNE:  We share that understanding.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  So go to page 7, please.

MR. COYNE:  Is this page 7 of your compendium?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah.  This is announced last month.  I don't need to get into the details again with you, but you're aware that the province announced a plan to lower electricity bills by 25 percent for all residential customers starting this summer.

MR. COYNE:  Yes.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  If you go to page 8, please.  This is a DBRS report on this announcement by the province.  If we can scroll down to the bottom.  There you go.  Thank you.

DBRS says, well, the mechanics of it aren't really set in stone, but we do know that it's estimated to be $2.5 billion in annual borrowings the next ten years, which would amount to $25 billion.

So if we go to page 9, it talks about OPG's role in this plan, and it says:

"The legal structure for the financing program has yet to be determined.  OPG will have a role in managing it."

That's fair to say, right?

MR. COYNE:  Yes, looking at this, our interpretation of that is that the financial capacity will come from the province but that the province will be looking to OPG to manage it, so --


MR. YAUCH:  OPG will play -- none of us are really clear what it is, but it will play some sort of role in this overall plan to lower hydro bills, correct?

MR. COYNE:  As suggested here, yes.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  So I'm going to recap some of the things that have happened over the last ten years, and then I'll ask you a couple questions and we can move on.

So over the last ten years the province has legislated the need for the DRP and then legislated a rate smoothing account to mitigate the bill impacts of the DRP.  It then took full control of system planning away from IESO and gave it to the Ministry of Energy, which is the shareholder of OPG.  It then legislated all OPG's hydro dams following a rate regulation, shielding them from market prices, and now the province is going to legislate rate smoothing on top of the nuclear rate smoothing for residential hydro customers.

So my question to you is, do any of the companies in your analysis face any sort of political intervention that matches that?  Or is this what distinguishes OPG from everyone else?

MR. COYNE:  I would say that there's no company in our proxy group that would exactly match this type of profile in terms of the role that the government plays in and around its operations, but I would also say that every one of these companies operates in a highly political environment insofar as energy and electricity is concerned.

A case in point would be, for example, that we spoke of Southern Company, who is building the Vogtle nuclear power plant, and before proceeding to build that plant Southern Company worked with the legislature in Georgia in order to pass a piece of legislation that approved of the company building that plant.  It was supported because of the job impacts and the economic impacts.  Ultimately it worked with the commission to provide for CWIP in rate base so it could build that nuclear project.

So there was substantial legislative and public utility commission support in place along with a federal debt guarantee to the company that provides for a substantial portion of the financing.

So it's not unusual for us to see companies that operate at the scope and scale that OPG does to have substantial interaction with their government involved in both planning and implementation of these very large projects.

There are some probably -- there are probably some unusual features associated with the scenarios that you've described that I think are unique to the Ontario environment, however.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  My -- ultimately you would agree that political intervention, whatever you want to call it, has changed since 2007 to now?  It's clear, right, that the environment the Board has operated in then, the environment now, are different?  From a political point of view.

MR. COYNE:  I see it as continuously evolving in Ontario, and I think it pre-dates 2007, going back to restructuring of the electric power industry in Ontario and the MacDonald Commission and all that came forth since then.  The decision to shut down the coal plants, for example, decisions pertaining, opening up competitive wholesale markets which have evolved over time.

So I see it as being a continuously evolving market with a strong -- a strong role for government in terms of those activities over time.  We don't see that in all jurisdictions in the States.  We see it in some.  We certainly see it in California.  We see it now in New York, where they're undergoing the New York REV proceeding, for example, that will fundamentally change the way that the T&D companies operate in the state of New York.

So we do see it in other jurisdictions as well.  That is also the case in some states, but not all.

MR. YAUCH:  I'm correct that none of the companies in California were part of your analysis, correct?  Or was there one?

MR. DANE:  That's incorrect.  Edison International is a California company.

MR. YAUCH:  My question finally is how far does the province have to go until you abandon the stand-alone principle?  What is the threshold when we go from viewing the company on a stand-alone basis to viewing it as an arm of energy policy?

MR. COYNE:  I think two things would have to happen.  One is that legislatively and from a Board standpoint, they would have to make the determination it was no longer proper to regulate it as a stand-alone entity.

MR. YAUCH:  Does that decision rest more with the Board or with the legislature?

MR. COYNE:  Both.  At the legislative level, the province would have to determine that it would want to completely -- to be completely responsible for all the risks and all the operating decisions that the company would make.

And at the Board level, the Board would have to make a determination that it was no longer in the public interest to regulate the company as a stand-alone entity.

MR. YAUCH:  If we can go to page 10 of Board Staff's compendium -- this isn't part of my compendium, but  I told them I was going to bring this up.  I want to focus on the first full paragraph that starts with "the Board".

In the second sentence, it stays:

"If the province transfers risks from OPG to consumers in future, the Board would need to reassess the resulting level of risk, and adjust the risk rating and possibly the capital structure accordingly."

MR. COYNE:  I'm sorry, you're on page 10 of?

MR. YAUCH:  Board Staff compendium.

MR. COYNE:  Which paragraph are you – oh, I see.

MR. YAUCH:  Just the second sentence.  As part of this case, you read OPG has proposed to the Board to recover $4.8 billion for the DRP.  And as part of that $4.8 billion, it's 90 percent confident that the cost of unit 2 will come in below that, and there's a 10 percent risk it will go over that.

To me, that seems that OPG is asking the Board to pass a greater percentage of risk onto consumers or ratepayers than the company is willing to take if it went with a P50, for example.

Is that one way to interpret how we can view this application?  And if so, if it is passing risk on to consumers, then according to the Board's decision in 2007, they could revaluate the capital structure.

MR. COYNE:  I think there are several questions built into the one you've asked. Let me see if I can break them down.

MR. YAUCH:  Sure.

MR. COYNE:  In terms of the P90 estimate and reliance on an estimate in order to proceed with a project like this, we're not aware of any company that would undertake this magnitude of investment without a very strong signal from its commission that there is both a need for the project and an assurance that the company's planning process and cost estimates are reasonable before it would proceed.

So I think that same type of understanding is implied or explicit within what the OPG has asked the Board to provide in this proceeding.  It's asked them for approval for a specific amount.  It's a gated project, so as the project approves, it will be coming back to the Board to ask for subsequent approvals.  I think that's both a prudent approach from a planning standpoint, and I think, quite frankly, it would be imprudent on the company's part if it were to proceed completely at risk without some sort of assurance that it was doing so with the blessing of the Board in that regard, and with the Board finding it was in the best public interest to do so.

So that's common.  The fact they would use a P90 estimate versus a P50 estimate, I'm not sure if I understand your question there.  Maybe you can repeat that portion of it.

MR. YAUCH:  Sure, in the P50 -- as part of the P90, there's a bunch of contingency and known unknowns that OPG expects to find in refurbishment.

So P90 says we've got all those, we think we've calculated all of the known unknowns we know, and we're 90 percent confident we'll come in below $4.8 billion.

But if they did a P50, it would shrink that contingency because it would say, well, there's a 50 percent chance these things won't happen or they will happen, and they share that risk with ratepayers rather than get it all into rate base now.

So it seems OPG is taking less risk on the project under a P90 model than, say, a P50.  And the Board has suggested that if OPG does that in the future, then it might reconsider the capital structure.

So I'm wondering about your opinion on that interpretation of it.

MR. COYNE:  I think it's prudent, from a company standpoint, to tighten that band as much as possible.  It will have to show amounts above that estimate as being prudent before it would be able to file for inclusion in rates in the future.

And as we know, and I think the record is established in this proceeding, there are a lot of ways that costs can vary from estimates even for the best planned projects of this type.  So I don't find it unusual that the company would be looking for that type of a band in that regard, because even with that band, I think the risks are still substantial.

MR. YAUCH:  Yes, I see why the company would do it;  I would do that, too, if I was the company.

But it seems that they're taking less of the risk than ratepayers then if they did a P50.  So it just seems that  they're blowing out their contingency as far as they think is reasonably possible to protect themselves, but ratepayers have to pay for that protection.  So it's transferring the risk from the company to ratepayers.

MR. COYNE:  Well, the project is ultimately for the benefit of ratepayers.  This is going to be producing long-term power for Ontario consumers for 30 years post refurbishment.  So the benefits and the costs should move in parallel with each other.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay, I'll move on.  Can you turn to page 13 of my compendium, please?

We talked about this extensively, so again I won't belabour it.  But your opinion is in the middle of that highlighted paragraph, and basically you say the company's proposal for rate smoothing exposes it to differing cash flows and these sorts of problems.

So it's riskier for the company than if it wasn't doing rate smoothing, correct?

MR. COYNE:  Yes.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  If we go to page 14, here you cite some of those risks, and I know Board Staff took you through them: reducing OPG's cash flow, increasing its debt, weakening some key financial metrics, and so on and so forth.

My question is the OEB -- rate smoothing is legislated, but the amount of rate smoothing is not legislated.  So the Board could say, yes, it does make the company riskier; we're going to let them rate-smooth, we're not going to let them defer any money.  And that would actually lower the risk of the company, correct, financially speaking?

MR. COYNE:  Let me see if I understand your hypothetical.  Could you break that down for us?  They would approve rate smoothing?

MR. YAUCH:  Sure.  Right now -- originally OPG said they want rate smoothing of the nuclear amounts by 11 percent; they changed it to all bill amount of, I think, 2.5 percent.  If the Board said, sure we'll do rate smoothing.  We're going to do 3.5 percent, and instead of deferring a billion dollars, you end up deferring 100 million or some more negligible number, it lowers the risk of the company, right?  The Board is, in essence, protecting the company from financial risk.

MR. COYNE:  It lowers the risk to the company from a rate smoothing perspective, yes.

MR. YAUCH:  If you did that, if you eliminated this risk from some of the risk you cite as the reason for the thicker capital portion of OPG, then if you eliminate that risk, would you then lower the capital, the equity portion?

MR. COYNE:  Not in this case, because a substantial risk remains and as we have cited, the largest risks associated with our recommendation are undertaking the Darlington project, undertaking life extension at Pickering, and moving to an IRM for both its hydro and nuclear businesses.

Those are the largest risks that underscore our recommendation.  Nuclear smoothing is much smaller by comparison.

MR. YAUCH:  In the context of those two other projects, Pickering and Darlington, Darlington is $4.8 billion in this test period and Pickering is 3.7 million, according to OPG.

Those are two significantly different risks to the company, right?  One is much larger than the other.

MR. COYNE:  They certainly are, yes, we agree.

MR. YAUCH:  If you go to page 22 of my compendium, there's a lot of numbers – if you can scroll over to the right a little bit.  Okay.

I'm just going to focus on column D, which is the year 2020, which is when unit 2 comes into service and OPG's nuclear rate base gets much bigger.  If you calculate the ROE portion of the revenue requirement, or the equity portion, you take column D, row 1, 7,494, you multiply by 9.19 percent, then you multiply by 49 percent, correct, and then you would get the equity portion of OPG's revenue requirement.

MR. COYNE:  That sounds right.

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct?  And so you can take it subject to check, but that number comes out to 337 million.  So I want to you remember that number.

If you go to page 23, please.

MR. COYNE:  337 million?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.

MR. COYNE:  And the 337 million is the equity component of the revenue requirement.  Is that your stipulation?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, for the nuclear rate base.

MR. COYNE:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  So if you go to this page, this is OPG's actual return on equity from 2005 to 2015, and we some years it's positive, some years it's negative, but they've never actually hit their allowed return on equity, correct?

MR. COYNE:  Yes, that's our understanding.

MR. YAUCH:  And so I averaged those numbers out, and you can take it subject to check, but it's 2.18 percent from 2005 to 2015.  That's what on average they've earned.

So if we go back to page 22, if we do -- if we change the 9.19 percent of their allowed ROE to what they've actually historically earned to 2.18 percent, that figure drops -- the ROE portion of the revenue requirement drops to $80 million, which is a 257-million-dollar difference from what they're allowed.

So my question to you as from an investor's point of view, the real risk isn't what OPG is allowed to return -- earn on their equity thickness, it's the fact that they never actually are able to earn it.  From an investor point of view that's the biggest concern, correct?

MR. COYNE:  Both would be factors --


MR. YAUCH:  Well, one is much -- like, if you look at -- sorry to cut you off, but then I'll -- if you look at the row 12, it's 23 million.  That's the difference between their current equity thickness and what they're proposing.  That's a tenth of what they would miss if they earn their average rate of return over the last ten years, according to my calculations.

So it seems the bigger risk really isn't the equity thickness, it's that they can't actually earn it.

MR. COYNE:  Well, I would agree with this, that

over -- you know, the Board can only allow the company to earn its required cost of capital, including an appropriate equity ratio.  The Board can -- it is up to the company to be able to manage its operations within those risks to earn that allowed return, and in taking on that risk it has the opportunity to earn that allowed return, but it's not a guarantee.  I think your analysis shows that in spades.

So it is not a guarantee, and where you set the allowed return is what the Board can control, and within the limits of management's control it determines how close it comes to actually earning that return.

MR. YAUCH:  In the context of OPG, based on its historical performance, the equity thickness is almost a moot point, because they never actually come close to earning what they could earn, so the Board could leave it at 45, 47 percent, and if OPG actually earned what they were allowed, they would blow past what they did in the past, correct?  It's really their performance is what's at stake.

MR. COYNE:  That's not -- but it's not up to the Board to determine or predict what type of job that the company will do in earning its allowed return.  The Board is governed by the fair return standard, and that's the law of the land as interpreted by jurisdictions across the country.

So its role is to determine what the fair -- what the fair return is for a company of these risks under its jurisdiction.  It is then up to the company, as long as it is provided by the Board a reasonable opportunity to earn its return, to operate the company accordingly, and those risks fall to the shareholder, and in this case, as you have pointed out, the shareholder has absorbed those risks.  They have not gone back to customers and asked to be kept whole for that differential.  The shareholder absorbs that risk, and if anything, these risks are increasing in the future, according to -- in this five-year plan that we were -- that we are looking at here, and so those risks remain with the shareholder.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  If we can go to page 25 of my compendium, please.  It's a very simple question.  OPG was asked how much of their revenue is subject to deferral accounts, and they said 20, 30 percent.  They give a bunch of qualifications in there on what's included and what's not -- not included, but they settle on this 20, 30 percent.

Are any of the other companies in your analysis -- do they face a similar situation, where 20 to 30 percent of their revenue is subject to deferral and variance accounts, or is that sort of an anomaly for OPG?

MR. COYNE:  Oh, no, by no means.  I mean, in our Exhibit 3 we show the types of accounts that each of these companies have, and in some cases it's over 50 percent, if you look at the impacts of fuel cost pass throughs, for example, for those that are operating fossil units.

So this is by no means out of the ordinary for the companies in our proxy group.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  If we can go to page 28, please.  This is from a report on Manitoba Hydro.  I'm not going to ask you extensively on this, but I just want you to look at its equity ratios for other Canadian Crown corporations.  I know earlier you gave reasons for why we shouldn't look at B.C. Hydro and Manitoba Hydro, but I figured it would be good to look at.

So B.C. Hydro has a 20 percent equity thickness and Manitoba Hydro currently has 18, but it's expected to go down to 9 percent, and both of those companies are undergoing massive capital building programs similar to OPG.  Cites (c) in the context of B.C. Hydro and the Keeyask dam in the context of Manitoba Hydro.

So why should the Board ignore those kinds of metrics when looking at OPG?

MR. COYNE:  Well, I think the document you shared with us probably helps to provide a good answer to that.  If we could in the same document flip to page 23.

MR. YAUCH:  No, it's in the...

MR. DANE:  This is the complete document that we were provided earlier.

MR. COYNE:  Oh, and is that something that we can show?

MR. SMITH:  We have a the complete document.  It's not included in the compendium.  That's what's being referred to.

MR. COYNE:  It was provided to us by Probe this past week.

MS. LONG:  You're going to refer to part of it?  Is that...

MR. COYNE:  I would like to refer to two other pages if I could to provide context around this --


MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. COYNE:  -- specific page in the compendium.

MR. YAUCH:  Do we want to mark that as an exhibit or...

MS. LONG:  Do we have copies?

MR. YAUCH:  I didn't bring copies of that.  I didn't know we were going to refer to other parts of it, so it's my apology.  I can e-mail a copy to the Board.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, let's get it on the record.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Can we mark it?

MR. COYNE:  So I would draw your attention.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, Mr. Coyne.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be K19.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K19.2:  Energy Probe Boston Consulting Group Presentation.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Thank you.

MR. COYNE:  So I would just draw your attention to the top of page 23, with the row titled "Hydro Act".  And the context here, as I understand BCG's report, is they're looking at some major investments that the -- that Hydro is contemplating.  There are two transmission lines and a large hydro project.  And BCG is opining as to the relative risks with proceeding versus not for these projects, seems to be the context.

So on 23, under "Hydro Act" it notes that -- it directs that prices be set such that Manitoba Hydro can recover operating interest costs and build sufficient reserves to fund replacement of assets and new investment property or plant, and the Act also outlines M.H.'s ability to borrow under provincial guarantee.

So those are two distinctive differences between how Manitoba Hydro operates and how OPG's rates are set.

And if you would also flip to page 24, the next page, I think this is even more telling for why we don't think this is an appropriate comparator.  You look on the line that says "return on equity", and it says under Manitoba's modified cost of service the return equity is the outcome of a rate-setting process.  It's not an input, it's an outcome, and it varies with revenue increases.

And down below it says under "allowances and disallowances" there is no disallowance authority with the PUB, and we know that this Board, of course, has that authority.

So it's regulated under a different set of standards than is OPG.  And that's an important distinction in why we wouldn't see it as comparable.

But to your question more broadly, why not include the other Crown Corps, a couple of reasons.  They do have different risk profiles, different business profiles.  They have both transmission distribution and generation assets, although that alone would not eliminate them, but none of these entities have nuclear -- with the exception of New Brunswick Power, none of them have nuclear generation, and as I mentioned, unlike OPG, rates are not set according to traditional authorized cost-of-capital parameters, and in every case they also raise their capital according to the province's credit rating with a provincial guarantee, and that's with a full, explicit guarantee, and that's different than the case is for OPG.

So for those three reasons, we did not consider them to be comparables for the purposes of setting the equity ratio here.  And I would note that Dr. Villadsen also considered these companies, and also eliminated from her analysis.

MR. YAUCH:  I think yesterday Mr. Shepherd asked you a question on OPG's credit rating changing largely because the province's credit rating changed.

So OPG is also -- its credit rating is based very much on what the province does, correct?

MR. COYNE:  Linked to, but it is not the same as.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Yauch.  This Panel has a few questions for you.
Questions by the Board:


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  I wanted to ask you a couple of things about the theme of the province's relationship with OPG, and the extent to which you took that into account in preparing your report.  Obviously the direct questions about what it actually is can go to the next OPG panel, which is their finance panel.

So I note -- well, first of all, you agree with me -- you're aware that the province is the sole shareholder obviously of OPG.  Also the province's -- the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation provides financing to successor corporations of Ontario Hydro, which include OPG. You're aware of that?

MR. COYNE:  Yes, aware of both.

MS. SPOEL:  And are you aware, and did you take into account, that OEFC has the same CEO as the Ontario Financing Authority, which is the Ontario government branch of that financing of Ontario government activities?

MR. COYNE:  That I was not aware of.  Dr. Dane, were you?

MR. DANE:  No.

MS. SPOEL:  And also, OEFC obtains all its funds from the Ontario financing authority, which then goes out to markets around the world to raise funds for the province. Were you aware of that?

MR. COYNE:  Yes, that we were.

MS. SPOEL:  Also at present, OPG has $1.1 billion in financing from OEFC for the Niagara Tunnel project, and has a line of credit for $800 million for the Darlington refurbishment, although they have not actually called on any of that.

Were you aware of that source of money for Darlington?

MR. COYNE:  We were aware of which source?  The OEFC's role?

MS. SPOEL:  The OEFC.

MR. COYNE:  Generally speaking, we're aware of the role they play in raising capital for OPG, yes, and we're aware of the prior history of capital amounts raised.

MS. SPOEL:  One of their objectives -- I'm just looking at their annual report -- is that one of their objectives for this year is to provide financing as required, and to support the activities of the successor corporations including OPG, so it's essentially a ready source.

I mean were you aware that there's this kind of ready source of funds through this provincial agency to provide financing to OPG, and they don't have to go out to institutions and individuals?

MR. COYNE:  Yes, and our understanding of that is that when they are raising capital for the underlying entity, it's the underlying entity's credit metrics, cash flow metrics, et cetera, that are supporting the credit quality associated with those debt issuances.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.

MR. COYNE:  So it's important to -- the relationship is one of acting as agent for OPG in this case, but it is also the underlying credit metrics of the company that are being considered by the investors in these debt instruments.

MS. SPOEL:  One last point that Mr. Yauch raised about the actual versus the allowed rate of return achieved by Ontario Power Generation, I noted in the DBRS report, which is in the Staff compendium -- I don't think you need to turn it up -- with respect to ROE, it says:

"DBRS will consider the utility's track record of its actual ROE out-performance/under-performance relative to allowed ROE, and assess whether they're key drivers, or whether the key drivers could be sustained going forward."

Would you agree that's a bigger factor in their creditworthiness than the allowed, to the extent to which the company achieves what they're allowed?

MR. COYNE:  I'm not sure about a bigger factor.  I think they're looking at both and pursuant to the discussion I just had with counsel for Energy Probe, they're looking at the opportunity the company has provided by the Board, and whether or not that is deemed to be of sufficient quality for the underlying risks of the company.

But then it does look at the history of the company to earn its allowed return, because that's where the real cash comes from at the end of the day to meet its debt obligations.  So it looks at both.

MS. SPOEL:  So that's a credit risk as other factors you mentioned, like the Darlington refurbishment project and so on?

MR. COYNE:  Absolutely.  That's where the real cash comes from is the real earnings and cash flow coming from the company's operations, yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  I think that's all I have.  Thank you.

MR. COYNE:  You're welcome.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Coyne, Mr. Dane, I want to clarify something with you.  You had a discussion this morning with Mr. Yauch about risk factors and you cited Darlington, Pickering, and the changed IRM as the three main factors that you considered.

And I thought that we had established yesterday that Pickering was not a material factor in your analysis.  So can you clarify that for me?  Is it material to your assessment, or it's not?

MR. COYNE:  It is material, but it is of an order and magnitude different than is Darlington.  Darlington -- the risk of Darlington in the rate setting period is by far and away the largest risk the company is taking on.  And as we know, the dollars that we're talking about are 12.8 billion versus 300 million, roughly.  So I think order of magnitude is reflected in those investments.

But as we also discussed about with Pickering, in addition to the additional expenses associated with life extension, it is also pushing the edge of the envelope in terms of the operating years of these CANDU reactors.  And what experience in the industry shows is that the farther you push out that envelope, the more likely you are to run into some operating challenges that you can't anticipate today.

So it's an incremental risk because they're getting older, but it's an order of magnitude smaller than is the Darlington risk over the rate setting period.

MS. LONG:  Would it be equal to the switch to IRM for the hydroelectric facilities?  I mean, you go into great detail in your report about Pickering, and you set out that you have some real concerns about risk.

So obviously Darlington, in your mind, is up here.  But I'm trying to see where it fits in the grand scheme of things, Pickering.  I mean, it's a big issue for this Panel to consider.

MR. COYNE:  Sure.  Let me just confer for one moment.  I have a view, and I want to make sure Mr. Dane shares it.

MS. LONG:  Sure.

MR. COYNE:  We came to the same answer, which is reassuring.  I don't know what we would have done otherwise.  We would have had at it.

We would both agree that it is the movement to hydro IRM, that it would be incrementally a greater risk going from the last rate period to this rate period.  That's because, as was discussed yesterday, some of these risks around Pickering are new; they're just three years older.  But moving into a new generation of rate-making for the hydro business is new for OPG.

So they're going to have to prove that they can operate under a five-year I minus X rate setting mechanism, which is unusual both for OPG and for any generator, frankly.

MS. LONG:  That's a great segue into my next question.  One of the things that OPG has proposed, as you know, is a midterm review.  And predominantly in that midterm review, they would like a review of production forecast.

But I wonder if either one of you turned your mind to whether the risk of a five-year term which you've identified would be lessened if there were any other elements that is were considered in the midterm review?

MR. COYNE:  My understanding is that the nuclear production forecast -- do you speak both of hydro as well as nuclear, or just nuclear?

MS. LONG:  Let's talk about nuclear.  If there were further components to a midterm review, would that lessen the risk that you see?

MR. COYNE:  I would say in general, yes.  The farther you go out with any IRM program, the greater the risk that you'll diverge from actual costs, because there are more unknowns, so the more opportunity you have to review significant cost factors to the extent that they're not already covered under a deferral and/or variance account on the margin would reduce the risk of the program if there was an opportunity to reset them in that period of time.

So I understand that the nuclear production forecast is a very important element, and I think that's probably been the primary source of the variance between the allowed and earned return in history for OPG, so I think the important one is already proposed, so I think the others would probably be incrementally smaller by comparison, but I --


MS. LONG:  But again, here, I guess, if you're identifying the biggest risk being Darlington and you're identifying cost overruns and schedule overruns, is that something that the risk would be lessened if that was part of a midterm review, in your view?

MR. COYNE:  To review the cost and to review the schedule at that period of time?

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. DANE:  And is your question specifically to update the payment amounts in the latter half of the --


MS. LONG:  Well, I'm asking --


MR. DANE:  -- five --


MS. LONG:  -- I mean, I guess I'm asking generally what would help lessen the risk in your view.  I mean, you've identified this as a very large risk, and are there any elements -- did you consider that there would be any other elements that could be reviewed at a midterm review beyond production forecast that would help assuage your fears with respect to the risk involved in Darlington?  And it may be that you didn't consider it, but I'm just wondering if that entered into your analysis.

MR. COYNE:  It did not, because our analysis began with the company's proposal as a basis for our evaluation.  And I think -- I'm not sure I could give you a good answer without considering what other risks might be involved and what other components might be involved in a midterm review.  It's a good question, I think requires a little bit of thought to --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thanks.

MR. COYNE:  -- give you an appropriate answer.

MS. FRY:  And would you be able to answer a similar question with respect to the risk that you say you consider would be posed by the change to a hydroelectric IRM, what things -- I mean, it wouldn't necessarily be a midterm review, but what kinds of mechanisms in your mind might significantly lessen the risk that you see?

MR. COYNE:  Yeah, the hydro is a little bit more straightforward, in that it's a mature business, and we have not availed ourselves of the productivity factor analysis that's been done, but I know it's typically the case that there is a divergence in opinion between what the appropriate productivity factor is.

So I think the -- if there were to be a midterm review, an important step would be to examine how the cost profile of the company has actually changed over time vis-a-vis how it's operating under an I minus X factor.  Has it been able to manage its operations, have there been unforeseen costs that have caused its cost profile to deviate from that I minus X rate path.

From a production standpoint there is already a water conditions variance account, so I think that key risk is accounted for there.  So I would say if there were a midterm review it would be to examine how I minus X is working in terms of tracking aggregate costs, would be the place that I would start.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  And there is no particular category of costs that you think is higher risk than anything else?

MR. COYNE:  It is typically the case that capital is the most difficult to project and track under an I minus X.  And so I would say if there are any unforeseen capital expenditures, you know, they may begin to evolve over a two-and-a-half-year period, and you might look to see if they have been able to manage under that I minus X band over that period of time.

I know that there is a variance account associated with certain expenditures as well, and maybe they will do a good job of capturing those unforeseen expenses.  But that would be the place I would typically look.  O&M is much more predictable, typically, unless there are just unforeseen circumstances associated with a major turbine outage or a dam that is no longer operating according to specifications or a new regulatory requirement, but typically those are going to be considered under a Z factor exemption.

But I would look at -- I guess I would look at capital first and I would look at O&M second as the major sources of variation vis-a-vis an I minus X program if there were a midterm review, yeah.

It's a new model, and I think it's in everyone's best interest to look at a new model to see how it's working, especially for generators, I would add, because generators, unlike T&D companies, are just not used to operating under these types of frameworks.  There is a reason, I believe, that the Board is coming around to this now, even though it's already in its fourth generation for electric distributors.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, I had one more question, and that goes back -- relates back to the Darlington Refurbishment Program again.  And my understanding of your evidence

was -- we just talked about it -- there is a significant execution risk with that program that it might be over budget or it might be delayed.  Pretty basic.

But if it is delayed -- forget about -- we won't -- the budget part is a whole other issue, but if it's delayed then it won't -- I don't think it's going to end up in rate base as predicted in 2020.  Is that your understanding?

MR. COYNE:  I would -- the Board would have to make a determination as to whether or not it is used or useful in that period of time.  And if it were to make a determination that it is used or useful in that period of time then it could go into rate base.  But according to, I think, standard OEB policy if it were delayed it probably wouldn't go into rate base.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  So if it -- if it -- let's say it didn't.  Let's say it ran a year late.  Then there wouldn't be that change in the rate base split between hydro and nuclear in the test -- the five-year test period that we're talking about.

MR. COYNE:  It would be pushed out a year in your scenario, yes --


MS. SPOEL:  Would that be -- so that -- that -- I guess that's my -- what I'm trying to work out is, where does the line between changing the equity thickness as a result of the rate base change come in and where does the change in the equity thickness because of the risk of the Darlington refurbishment project --


MR. COYNE:  Right.

MS. SPOEL:  -- coming in on time change, because you won't have both.  If it ends up in rate base in 2020, it's because most of those risks will not have materialized, and in fact it will be in-service and it will be in rate base and, you know, things will move along as we hope they do.  If there is a delay then it won't be in rate base, and I just wondered how much of those two factors, because it won't have both.  You won't have both a delay and in rate base in 2020 --


MR. COYNE:  Right.

MS. SPOEL:  -- probably, unless it's a very small delay, in which case --


MR. COYNE:  And so should the Board be concerned today with whether the delay might or might not occur --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, I'm just wondering from your point of view of whether you considered -- you cited each of those factors as being a factor related to your recommendation to increase the equity thickness to 49 percent, and since they probably won't both occur in this five-year period, then -- or the risk won't be realized if the rate base changes in this five-year period, whether you gave any consideration to the fact that as a risk item those might -- as factors those might offset each other to an extent or not or as just sort of part of a bigger picture.

MR. COYNE:  I think the -- and again, I would credit Dr. Villadsen with this.  Maybe this isn't even a segue, but I think her chart underscores best the answer to your question.  And if I could refer to it, because visually I think it paints an appropriate picture.

I don't ordinarily rely on other witnesses' exhibits as much as I have on this particular chart, but I think it shows -- it addresses your point very poignantly, and that's page 10 of Dr. Villadsen's report.  And that's figure 1 on her page 10.  There we go.

And this is -- this paints the picture that I think is important for the Board to consider in response to your question.  And that is that the risk that we're focusing on, yes, is measured by the change in nuclear rate base over time, as the Board has focused on the past, but from a financial perspective, the implications of the Darlington project are occurring today, and you can see that through the capital expenditures, which -- the bars there.

So I believe what the Board should be doing is accommodating that profile and providing the company with the capital structure it needs to withstand the investments that we know will occur.

You're right that there could be a delay and instead of 2019 or 20, it could be 2021.  But that doesn't change the fundamental risk profile of the company as it's undertaking that investment.  As the Board has indicated in the past, capital structure and the cost of capital is a forward-looking concept.  So it's this forward-looking picture, the bars that I would focus on, even though in the past, the Board has measured it according to when the actual rate base changes were occurring.  Both are occurring.

We don't know -- there is uncertainty around when that bump is going to occur, but not as much uncertainty around the magnitude of these capital expenditures over the rate setting period that I would focus on.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, that's helpful.

MS. LONG:  Those are all our questions thank you.  Mr. Smith, any redirect?

MR. SMITH:  No re-examination.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you, panel.  Thank you for your evidence.  You are excused.

I think, given that we're going to switch to another panel, we are we'll take our morning break now for 20 minutes.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:44 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:07 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Richler.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I would like to introduce Dr. Bente Villadsen.  I will be seeking to have her qualified as an expert witness in the cost of capital, including capital structure.  First if I could please ask that she be affirmed.
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Bente Villadsen; Affirmed.
Expert Qualification of the Witness
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Richler:

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.

Good morning, Dr. Villadsen.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Morning.

MR. RICHLER:  You are a principal with the Brattle Group?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  You work in Brattle's office in Cambridge, Massachusetts?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you tell us a little bit about the Brattle Group?

DR. VILLADSEN:  The Brattle Group is an economic consulting firm that specializes in -- the department I'm in specializes in energy regulation.  We have about 300 staff, of which about 100 is dedicated to the energy industry.  We have offices in Cambridge.  In addition we have offices here in Toronto.  We have offices in Washington, D.C., San Francisco, and also in Europe and Australia.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you tell us specifically about your practice?

DR. VILLADSEN:  My practice is focused on the energy industry, specifically utilities, where I specialize in regulatory finance and accounting.  I provide testimony on cost of capital, capital structures, accounting issues, such as recovery, rate base, et cetera.

MR. RICHLER:  How long have you been with Brattle?

DR. VILLADSEN:  16 years.

MR. RICHLER:  Dr. Villadsen, do you have a copy of the report entitled "Common equity ratio for OPG's regulated generation" dated November 23rd, 2016, which was filed as Exhibit M3 in this proceeding?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I do.

MR. RICHLER:  You were the author of this report?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I was.

MR. RICHLER:  Your CV is attached to the report as an appendix, but in fact since your report was filed you have updated your CV; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.  I added some presentations, testimony, et cetera.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, Madam Chair, we circulated Dr. Villadsen's updated CV to the other parties on Monday, and I would propose that we introduce this as an exhibit and mark it as K19.3.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K19.3:  UPDATED CV OF DR. B. VILLADSEN.

MR. RICHLER:  I trust the Board members have a copy?

MS. LONG:  We do.

MR. RICHLER:  Dr. Villadsen, I would like to take you through your updated CV.  And I'm going to do a bit of a page flip.  Madam Chair, I don't propose to go through this line by line, but I do understand that one of the intervenors may have some concerns about the witness's qualifications, so I don't want to rush this too much.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.

MR. RICHLER:  Starting on page 1, I see at the very first line it says:

"Dr. Bente Villadsen's work concentrates in the areas of regulatory finance and accounting."

Is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  At the end of the first paragraph it says that you have filed testimony and testified in federal and state court, in international and U.S. arbitrations, and before state and federal regulatory commissions on accounting issues, damages, discount rates, and cost of capital for regulated entities?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And we'll come back to some of the details of those proceedings in a moment.

Next paragraph it explains that you hold a Ph.D. from Yale University School of Management with a concentration in accounting; is that correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  You have a joint degree in mathematics and economics, B.S. and M.S. from the University of Aarhus in Denmark?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's also correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And before you joined Brattle you were a professor of accounting at the University of Iowa, the University of Michigan, and Washington University in St. Louis?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And it says next you have also taught graduate classes in econometrics and quantitative methods.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Below that it lists in point form your areas of expertise, and there's three areas listed.  I see regulatory finance, which includes cost of capital.  Next there's accounting and corporate finance.  And third, there's damages and valuation.  That's a fair characterization of the range of your expertise?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. RICHLER:  And you've listed specific examples of your experience in each of those three areas on the following pages, so I would like to take you there.  If we flip to page 2, this is under the heading "regulatory finance", and the very first bullet it indicates that on behalf of the Association of American Railroads you appeared as an expert before the Surface Transportation Board and submitted expert reports on the determination of the cost of equity for U.S. freight railroads; is that correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I did.

MR. RICHLER:  Next bullet, for several electric, gas, and transmission utilities in Alberta you filed evidence and appeared as an expert on the cost of equity and appropriate capital structure.  This was before the Alberta Utilities Commission?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And I'll have more to ask you about that proceeding in particular in a moment.

Skipping to the fourth bullet, it says that you have estimated the cost of equity on behalf of Anchorage Municipal Light and Power, Arizona Public Service, Portland General Electric, Anchorage Water and Wastewater, American Water, California Water, and EPCOR in state regulatory proceedings; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. RICHLER:  You've also submitted testimony before the Bonneville Power Authority?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Much of your testimony involves not only cost-of-capital estimation but also capital structure, the impact on credit metrics and various regulatory mechanisms, such as revenue stabilization, riders, and trackers, correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Next bullet, in Australia it says you've submitted a report on cost of equity and debt estimation methods for the Australian Pipeline Industry Association, and that this report was filed with the Australian energy regulator; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And at the bottom of that paragraph it says you have also submitted a report on aspects of the WACC calculation for Aurizon Network to the Queensland Competition Authority?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's right.  And just for clarification, WACC is weighted average cost of capital.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Next bullet it says in Canada you have co-authored reports for the British Columbia Utilities Commission and the Canadian Transportation Agency regarding cost-of-capital methodologies?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's skip to page 3.  The third bullet it says on behalf of ITC Holdings you filed testimony with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission regarding capital structure issues?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's flip to page 4 now.  I'm just trying to pull out some of the most pertinent highlights.  Second bullet, it says you estimated the cost of capital for major U.S. and Canadian utilities, pipelines, and railroads.  The work has been used in connection with the company's rate hearings before the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, the Canadian National Energy Board, the Surface Transportation Board, and state and provincial regulatory bodies.  The work has been performed for pipelines, integrated electric utilities, non-integrated electric utilities, gas distribution companies, water utilities, railroads, and other parties, for the owner of Heathrow and Gatwick Airport Facilities, you have assisted in estimating the cost of capital of U.K.-based airports, and the resulting report was filed with the U.K. Competition Commission?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  The next bullet:

"For a Canadian pipeline Dr. Villadsen co-authored an expert report regarding the cost of equity capital and the magnitude of asset retirement obligations.  This work was used in arbitration between a pipeline owner and its shippers."

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Skipping three bullets down, it says:

"In connection with rate hearings for electric utilities Dr. Villadsen has estimated the impact of power purchase agreements on the company's credit ratings and calculated appropriate compensation for utilities that sign such agreements to fulfil, for example, renewable energy requirements."

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.  And just for clarifications, if you sign a purchase power agreement it's like taking on extra debt, so that's the issue.  That's how it relates to capital structure.

MR. RICHLER:  Turning to page 5, at the top of the page, it says:
"For a large integrated utility in the U.S., Dr. Villadsen has for several years participated in a large range of issues regarding the company's rate filing, including the company's cost of capital, incentive based rates, fuel adjustment clauses, and regulatory accounting issues pertaining to depreciation pensions and compensation."

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you tell us anything more about that?  I don't know if the identity of that client is confidential?


DR. VILLADSEN:  The identity is not confidential.  This pertains to Ameren in Missouri, and I've done a lot of consulting work.  I have not testified for them, but it's consulting work.

MR. RICHLER:  The next bullet says you have been involved in several projects evaluating the impact of credit ratings on electric utilities.  You were part of a team evaluating the impact of accounting fraud on an energy company's credit rating, and assessing the credit rating but for the accounting fraud; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  I take it from this and some of the other items I mentioned, that you are familiar with the methodologies used by credit rating agencies to evaluate utilities?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I am, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And you're familiar with the factors that those rating agencies take into account in determining a company's risk?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I am.

MR. RICHLER:  Next bullet:
"For a large electric utility, Dr. Villadsen modelled cash flows and analyzed it financing decisions to determine the degree to which the company was in financial distress as a consequence of long-term energy contracts."

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And skipping one bullet, it says:
"For several infrastructure companies, Dr. Villadsen has provided advice regarding the regulatory issues, such as the allowed return on equity, capital structure, the determination of rate base and revenue requirement, the recovery of pension, capital expenditure, fuel, and other costs, as well as the ability to earn the allowed return on equity.  Her work has spanned twelve U.S. states, as well as Canada, Europe and South America.  She has been involved in the electric, natural gas, water, and toll road industry."

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  I'm not going to go through the next sections of your CV in the same level of detail.  Those sections are headed, first, accounting and corporate finance, which starts on page 5, and damages and valuation, which starts on page 8.  But perhaps it might be helpful if you could just give us a high level summary of some of the work you've done in those two areas.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Sure.  If I talk first about the accounting and corporate finance, much of that work relates to arbitrations where I have been estimating damages or the impact of accounting fraud, or certain accounting methodologies for companies, either as an advisor or, in some cases, as an expert.

It has also pertained to, for example, some tax issues where we have looked at what was what the impact of certain transactions that were done from an accounting perspective.

All of this work, I should say, has pretty much related to infrastructure companies.  I don't really do financial companies; I do infrastructure.  So that has been my focus in all of these.

In the section that's entitled "Damages and valuation", where we have more assessed the value of a company, what is the value of a certain company.  For example, I have estimated the value of natural gas companies for the Alaska Investment Authority.  I have investigated it also -- investigated that also for investors who want know is the amount paid appropriate or not.

I have determined whether or not there's a certain value to having certain cash flows modeled one or the other ways that has been for tax purposes.  Would it matter, for example, whether or not transfer pricings were treated in one or another way.  Because I have an accounting background, I have a unique insight how that would affect cash flows.

That's sort of a high level summary of what this kind of work is.

MR. RICHLER:  I can glean from what you've already explained that you've done a lot of work on behalf of regulated utilities, but that you have also been engaged by regulatory agencies.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I have.  I have worked for the British Columbia Utilities Commission.  I worked for the Canadian Transportation agencies.  I worked for the Dutch regulator, and I worked for the Italian regulator.

MR. RICHLER:  Have you ever been engaged by or submitted testimony on behalf of a ratepayer group?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I have.  I have testified before the Bonneville Power Authority on behalf of preference customers.

MR. RICHLER:  What are preference customers, briefly?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Preference customers for Bonneville Power is customers that have the right to certain services and at certain prices from Bonneville Power.  They have a preference in getting the power that comes off Bonneville power's hydro facilities.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Let's turn to page 9.  There's a heading called "Publications and reports", and then on the following page, page 10, there's another heading called "Selected Presentations".

I don't propose to go through these in any detail.  But first of all, I understand there's something that's not listed here because it hasn't actually been published.  But I gather you are the lead author of a forthcoming book that is of some relevance to the matters at issue in this proceeding.

Can you just explain?

DR. VILLADSEN:  By May 1, I, as the lead author with some co-authors, will publish a book, "Risk and Return for Regulated Industries".  There is a chapter for example -- there are several chapters on cost of equity estimation.  There is a chapter on capital structure.  There's a chapter on asymmetric risk and business risk.  It will be published by Elsevier publishers.

MR. RICHLER:  On page 11, at the very top of the page, it indicates that you have spoken in each of the last few years at something called the American Gas Association and Edison Electric Institute public utility accounting course on the topic of capital structure and liability management.

Can you explain briefly what that entailed?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.  The American Gas Association is the trade organization for all gas companies in the U.S.  Edison Electric Institute is the trade organization for electric utilities.

These entities every year hold a four-day course on accounting for regulated utilities, including a session on how do you determine capital structure, what principles should guide both for regulatory purposes and also from a finance perspective.  I have, for the last three years, taught that section of the course.

MR. RICHLER:  Before I leave these two sections dealing with publications and speaking engagements, is there anything else you would like to draw the Board's attention to, anything of particular relevance to the issues we're dealing with in this proceeding?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I don't think so.

MR. RICHLER:  That's fine.  Let's turn to page 12, where you list the testimony you have provided, and I see you have filed numerous expert reports in your career.  I haven't tallied them, but I see there are dozens here; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And this includes a number of reports specifically on the question of cost of capital?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.  That's probably the majority of them.

MR. RICHLER:  I gather this is the first time you've appeared before the Ontario Energy Board?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It is, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  But you've testified before regulatory commissions in several other jurisdictions, including Alberta?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  As well as before the courts in the United States and private arbitrations?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Let me focus on a few of the many items listed here because on the face of them, they would seem particularly pertinent.

The first one I wanted to ask you about was the third item listed on page 12.  This is testimony you provided on cost of equity and capital structure for Anchorage Municipal Light & Power before the regulatory commission of Alaska.

Can you tell us briefly what that was about, and what your mandate was?

DR. VILLADSEN:  In that engagement, I was engaged to testify on -- Anchorage Light & Power is a municipal utility in Anchorage, Alaska.  I was engaged to testify on the cost of equity and the appropriate capital structure for their integrated electric utility.  So that was the topic of my testimony.

That would be the same topic primarily on the fifth one you have here, where I did it for Anchorage municipal wastewater company, and I think that might be of more interest because here we actually had to derive what would be an appropriate capital structure for Anchorage wastewater company.  What we did here was look at, how did it compare in risk to other water utilities and there -- and from that basis devise what would be an appropriate capital structure for Anchorage wastewater, because it was an unusual municipal entity.  We did not, as is common in the U.S., use the actual capital structure.

MR. RICHLER:  And broadly, that type of methodology is similar to the methodology you employed in performing the mandate given to you by Board Staff in this proceeding.

DR. VILLADSEN:  It is, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's jump down a couple bullets.  I see you provided direct testimony on capital structure, embedded cost of debt, and income taxes for Detroit Thermal, Michigan Public Service -- or I suppose that was before the Michigan Public Service Commission.

So same question:  Can you give us a brief summary of what that was all about?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.  I had two testimony -- two tasks here.  One was to recommend an appropriate capital structure for Detroit Thermal.  Detroit Thermal is an unusual structure, so therefore we again tried to determine from a risk perspective what would be an appropriate capital structure looking at comparable companies.

My second mandate, which is probably less relevant for this, was to, from an accounting perspective, calculate what was the embedded cost of debt for Detroit Thermal and also what was the regulatory tax obligations of Detroit Thermal.

MR. RICHLER:  And again, broadly speaking, in respect of the first part of that mandate, the comparative analysis, was that similar to what you did for this proceeding?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, it was.  I looked at comparable companies and tried to determine what was differences, if any was there.

MR. RICHLER:  The next item I wanted to ask you about was two bullets down.  This was your testimony before the Alberta Utilities Commission regarding cost of equity and capital structure for Alberta-based utilities.

Can you tell us about that, please.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.  In Alberta they have a generic cost-of-capital proceeding, and I was engaged by the majority of the Alberta utilities to determine the appropriate cost of equity, as well as recommend a capital structure for a benchmark utility, as well as for the individual companies that were my clients.

I went about the cost of equity estimation using standard finance models.  I went about determining the capital structure primarily using a credit metric analysis, because that is what the Alberta commission in the past has said they want utilities to have a capital structure that meets an A rating.  So that was how we tried to encompass that.  Slightly different tack, but we do the same analysis here.

MR. RICHLER:  And without necessarily getting into specifics, is it fair to say that in addition to the few that I've just taken you to you have provided testimony on cost of capital before other -- in other cases before regulatory agencies?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I have.  And they are all listed on this updated resume.

MR. RICHLER:  Are there any -- in any of those other cases, other than the ones we've spoken about, were you asked specifically to advise or opine on capital structure?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I have been.  If we look at, for example, the first one listed on page 13, that would also revolve around capital structure.

MR. RICHLER:  And --


DR. VILLADSEN:  And then there's one, if I can find, because New Mexico, if we look at the third from the bottom on page 13, that would also involve capital structure for New Mexico American Water.

MR. RICHLER:  And other than the items listed here in your CV, in the course of your career, have you worked on other matters where perhaps you were not the actual witness but you played a supporting role for colleagues at Brattle in preparing advice or opinions on cost-of-capital questions?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I've worked on numerous such engagement in my 16-year career at Brattle, and most notably and important for this commission might be my work I've done with colleagues here in Canada, in Alberta, before the National Energy Board, and also before this Board with my colleagues, Larry Kolbe, Mike Vilbert, and Paul Carpenter, where we have looked at cost of equity, capital structure, and business risk.

MR. RICHLER:  One other thing that I don't think is marked on your CV, but I understand you are currently the president of the Society of Utility Regulatory Financial Analysts, or SURFA; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you tell us what that is?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's a society that brings together regulatory financial analysts, most notably cost-of-capital experts from regulatory commission staff, utilities, consultants, and consumer advocates.

Our Board aims at having one-third staff, one-third utilities, and one-third consumer advocates on it.  I was elected president.

MR. RICHLER:  So you were elected by your peers in the field?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  You don't have to turn it up now, but at the very end of your report you have attached the Board's expert acknowledgment of duty form signed by you.  So just to confirm, you understand your duty to the Board, including the duty to provide evidence that is fair, objective, and non-partisan?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, for this proceeding the Brattle Group was engaged by OEB Staff through a public request for proposal, or RFP process; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  There was an open competition, and you were selected.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, I would now ask that the Board accept Dr. Villadsen as an expert in the cost of capital, including capital structure.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Richler.

Does anyone have any questions that they would like to ask Dr. Villadsen with respect to her qualifications to be accepted as an expert in cost of capital?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think Ms. Khoo is going to go first, and then I will follow.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Khoo --


MS. KHOO:  That's correct.

MS. LONG:  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Khoo:

MS. KHOO:  Hello, Dr. Villadsen.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Good morning.

MS. KHOO:  My name is Cynthia Khoo.  I'm counsel to the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  This is Dr. Lawrence Booth, and he is consultant to VECC.

I'm just going to also go over some aspects of your CV and just to ask some clarifying questions, basically.

So to begin with, on page 1, under your areas of expertise, I noted that business risk analysis is not listed as one of your areas of expertise, but it seems like that's actually quite central to the issues here.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I consider that as an integral part to, if you provide testimony on cost of capital.

MS. KHOO:  In fact, yesterday the witness panel for Concentric noted that they focused only on business risk, as opposed to credit metrics.

DR. VILLADSEN:  And I focused on both for this purpose.

MS. KHOO:  And the same page of your CV states that your Ph.D. concentration was in accounting; is that correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And in addition you were professor of accounting at several universities, in addition to teaching courses in econometrics and quantitative methods?  That's correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  Did you ever teach a course that was specifically in economics or business risk analysis?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I've taught courses in economics, not in business risk analysis.

MS. KHOO:  And for the economics courses were they general courses or was it a specific aspect of economics?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It would have been financial economics.  Corporate finance, some would call it.

MS. KHOO:  And would you be willing to provide copies of the course syllabus or outline for that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I'm not sure I can find it.  I will try, but I can't promise I can find it any longer.  I have been a consultant for 16 years.  I don't know where any of that material is any longer.

MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, what are you asking Dr. Villadsen to provide?  Syllabuses from any courses she's taught in her 16-year career?

MS. KHOO:  From the financial economics course that she had mentioned, just to see specifically what the course -- what she was teaching in.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That would be 20 years ago.

MS. LONG:  I don't think that's necessary.

MS. KHOO:  Yeah, I think I was under the impression you were currently teaching.  Thank you.

Okay.  On page 2 of your resume under "regulatory finance", just to confirm, the third bulleted item regarding capital structure for OEB Staff, that's this current proceeding?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And similarly on page 12, the item saying "Expert report on common equity ratio for OPG's regulated generation", that's also this current report that we're looking at now?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And now to focus on capital structure experience, which I know you've just gone over.  In the fifth bullet under regulatory finance, it says:
"Much of her testimony involves not only cost of capital estimation, but also capital structure."

Just given how it's written in that item, I was wondering if it refers to your testimony before Bonneville Power Authority alone, or just kind of everything that was listed in that point.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Everything that's listed in that point.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And on page 3 of your CV, you stated that you filed testimony with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission on behalf of ITC Holdings.

 I was wondering if you can explain what exactly ITC Holdings was.

DR. VILLADSEN:  ITC Holdings is a transmission operator in the U.S. that is -- it has transmission assets only and is fully regulated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you.  On page 5 of your CV, the last item under regulatory finance, when I read it, it appeared to be a more generic paragraph or overview of regulatory issues that you've advised on.

So I was wondering if that is the case, or does that refer to specific work that wasn't itemized in the rest of the --

DR. VILLADSEN:  This is a bundling together of work I've done for infrastructure companies that attempt to acquire utilities, where I have advised them on regulatory matters, on what is the regulatory landscape and what can they expect.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you.  Now moving on to the next topic, what was your most recent experience testifying before a Canadian regulator?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Alberta Utilities Commission in May or June.  I can't remember the month now.

MS. KHOO:  This was for the proceeding that went from 2015 to 2017?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  And you mentioned earlier that this is your first time appearing before the Ontario Energy Board.  I was wondering how many times in total have you testified in a proceeding before a Canadian regulator.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I have testified at the hearing in Alberta, and this is the second time.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And in Alberta, can you confirm that it was Dr. Paul Carpenter who presented the business risk evidence on behalf of Brattle?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Paul Carpenter presented the business risk evidence, yes.  I presented capital structure recommendation and the cost of equity.

MS. KHOO:  And when you presented, that was based on the evidence that was provided by Paul Carpenter?

DR. VILLADSEN:  In part.  But I also undertook my own risk analysis, and I did credit metric analysis, which was my work.

MS. KHOO:  I believe that is all of my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Khoo.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I will be brief.  I was a little taken aback to find out about the book and being president of the Society of Utility Financial Analysts.  I would have liked to have known that earlier, since they're obviously relevant.

MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, I can't hear you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  We just learned just now that Dr. Villadsen is publishing a book, which includes a chapter on capital structure; that's not in her CV.  And we just learned that she is the President of the Society of Utility Financial Analysts, which is also not in her CV.

It would have been helpful to know that in advance, since the CV was updated anyway.  It puts us at a disadvantage because we can't review those things.  But I do have a couple of questions.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


The first is -- is it correct, Dr. Villadsen, that a majority of your work in the last five years, let's say, has been cost of capital related one way or another?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I would say probably 50 to 60 percent of my work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it also fair to say that more than 90 percent of that work was on behalf of utilities?  Am I in the ballpark?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I can't say it's 90 percent, but it is true that most of my clients have been utilities, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In the regulatory testimony list that you have here, were you the lead on all of those?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're testifying here about equity thickness and we are -- we tend to think of equity thickness as related to ROE.  But it's true, isn't it, that equity thickness is actually more about debt than about ROE, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's about both.  You cannot determine ROE and equity thickness without thinking about the other.  You have to look at both because you need eventually to meet the fair return standard, which means you need to have an appropriate ROE and an appropriate equity thickness.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair enough.  But I guess my question is more -- you do a lot of credit analytics, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And my question is more about the equity thickness being about protecting debt holders, because they want more equity thickness to reduce their risk, right?  That's what it's all about.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Certainly debt holders would like more equity, everything else equal, to have less risk exposed to them.  The other aspect is the fair return, which we also need to meet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you bring to the table and what I understood your focus to be -- and I'm not saying it's the only thing you do, but your focus is that you are able to look at the credit metric component of it, and assess what equity thickness will do on the debt side, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's one of the things I do.  But that's a minimum, because you need to make sure you have the financial integrity.  But that's only one of three criteria you need to meet to have a fair return standard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I don't think I have any more questions, Madam Chair, and we don't object to this witness.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Ms. Khoo, are you objecting to Dr. Villadsen being qualified as an expert in cost of capital?

MS. KHOO:  No, I am not objecting.

MS. LONG:  Is anyone else objecting?

MR. SMITH:  No objection.
Qualification of the Witness:


MS. LONG:  Thank you.  The Board is prepared to accept Dr. Villadsen as an expert in cost of capital, including capital structure.  Mr. Richler?
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Richler:


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Just a few questions by way of direct examination.

Dr. Villadsen, do you adopt the report filed as Exhibit M3 as your evidence in this proceeding?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I do.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you also adopt as your evidence the answers provided to the interrogatories on this report?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I do.

MR. RICHLER:  Dr. Villadsen, I understand that after your report was filed, you noticed a few things you wanted to correct.  You prepared a one-page summary of those corrections, is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, Madam Chair, we circulated this one page errata sheet to the other parties on Monday, and I would propose that we mark this as Exhibit K19.4.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K19.4:  ERRATA SHEET FOR DR. VILLADSEN'S EVIDENCE


MR. RICHLER:  The Board members have that?

MS. LONG:  Yes, we do.

MR. RICHLER:  Dr. Villadsen, looking a the this errata sheet, do any of these corrections change your analysis or conclusions?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, they are all clarifications on references and exact numbers.

MR. RICHLER:  Are there any other corrections you wish to make to your evidence?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you explain briefly the purpose of your testimony?  What were you asked to do by OEB Staff?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I was asked to do two things.  First, I was asked to take a look at the report submitted by Concentric and provide this critical review of that.  Second, I was asked to come up with a recommendation for the equity percentage of OPG going forward.

MR. RICHLER:  Could you briefly explain how you went about the task given to you by OEB Staff?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Sure.  First, I reviewed the report submitted by Concentric and evaluated where I thought the report could use improvements, and also what I thought generally about their recommendation.

Second, I went about to look at what would be an appropriate equity percentage for OPG going forward.  To do that, I first looked at whether or not the risk of OPG had changed since the last payment amount proceeding, because that would be a threshold for whether we should change the equity structure or not.

Having looked at that, I then did two tasks.  One, I looked at the credit metrics of OPG to see whether they could meet the financial integrity standard with the current 45 percent equity, or if we needed to do something differently.

Seeing that that would not be within the range of an appropriate credit metric, I then tried to determine what would be an appropriate capital structure specifically, and to do so I say what would be -- increase be if there should be one.  To do so I looked at what I would consider comparable companies, and I purposely wanted to look at the market and what the market's book equity percentages was, so unlike Concentric, for example, who looked -- allowed equity percent, I looked to the market equity percentages and what book value capital structures companies had, so that reduced my sample size because once you want to look at very comparable companies you have to be very cautious of not including any companies that has much unregulated observations, so I eliminated a number of companies to get a smaller comparable sample.

Having done that, I ended up with 48 percent equity recommendation, which I think is in line with what companies that have similar risk have and also in line with a need for an increase in the equity thickness, given that I found that the risks of OPG has increased.

MR. RICHLER:  How do you say your analysis differs from Concentric's analysis, both in terms of methodology and conclusions?

DR. VILLADSEN:  My work differs on two dimensions.  One, I went out and looked at the credit metrics independently, whereas Concentric looked at what OPG has prepared.  Second, my selection of sample companies was different, in the sense that I looked at a narrower sample of companies that I think are more comparable to OPG, and I looked at what is the holding company's capital structures, because I think the market is important here, both from a credit metrics perspective and from an equity thickness perspective.

In terms of my conclusions, I'm not really concerned about the change from an accrual to a cash method of accounting for OPEB and pensions.  I think unless there is a disallowance that's really a matter of moving things in time.

In terms of my real conclusions, I think the huge capital expenditure that is mostly the Darlington project is a very large increase in risk for the company, and that's the number-one thing I think has changed.

There is a slight increase in risk also from going to an IRM system simply because -- and here I want to clarify something that has been said before; namely, that there has been a lot of focus on whether there is a chance to earn the expected return if you go to an IRM.

And, yes, a good system would expect you to overearn and underearn by the same amount, but importantly, from a risk perspective, the wider the range of outcomes the more risk a company have, so that's important, and that's really where I come from.  It's not so much an ability to earn the expected, but that you have a wider range of outcomes.  That's what is important to me here.

So I concluded based on all of this that an equity percent of 48 percent would be appropriate going forward.  That's slightly below what Concentric recommended.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Dr. Villadsen.  I have no further questions.  Madam Chair, the witness is now available for cross-examination.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Richler.  Ms. Khoo.

MS. KHOO:  Hello.  I sent out a five-page compendium this morning.  I don't know if that should be marked.

MS. LONG:  Yes, let's mark that.

MR. RICHLER:  K19.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K19.5:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR OEB STAFF PANEL 5Aii.

MS. LONG:  Can you just wait until everybody gets it, please.

MS. KHOO:  And actually, while we're waiting, I also sent out an e-mail referring to certain documents already on the record that people might want to take the time to just have open.

MS. LONG:  Dr. Villadsen, do you have the compendium?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Just got the compendium, yes.

MS. LONG:  You do?  And Mr. Smith, you have it?

MR. SMITH:  Not yet.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  I'm not sure if we -- we do not appear to have it electronically.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  And do you have the list of documents, I guess, that Ms. Khoo is going to refer to?  No?  Do you have a hard copy to provide them?

MS. KHOO:  No, I sent this out during the break.  I'm not sure -- did anybody receive it in that case, or is it...  That's very strange.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, are you -- you're starting with the compendium, are you?

MS. KHOO:  Well, I'm starting with -- no, actually, we can --


MS. LONG:  Well, that's fine.  We'll just -- you know, if we need to get to the document --


MS. KHOO:  Sure.

MS. LONG:  -- we'll just take a bit more time so --


MS. KHOO:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  -- that we can see it up on the screen.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Khoo:

MS. KHOO:  So starting with the Brattle report then, on page 44 -- or could you please turn to page 44 of the report.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I'm here.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  This is regarding the comment on construction risk, where you point to the large exposure to construction risk as a factor in recommending that OPG raise its equity thickness; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And now could you please turn to page 24 of the report.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I'm there.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And here you indicate an awareness that the Ontario government is committed to OPG seeing through its project, and that in O. Reg. 53/05 this Board approved it based on the Ontario government's long-term energy plan; is that correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, what I'm citing here is the Regulation 53/05, yes.

MS. KHOO:  Yes.  And do you regard the actions of the provincial government where OPG is concerned as those of an arm's length shareholder?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, it can't be said that it is an arm's length shareholder.  At the same time there's certainly also instances where the federal, provincial, or state legislature will provide similar legislation for an entity that is an investor-owned utility.

Most notably, for example, there's all the guarantees that comes from the federal government in the U.S. to the Vogtle project of Southern Company.

MS. KHOO:  And these guarantees are similar to what you see here with OPG?

DR. VILLADSEN:  They're different in the sense they guarantee directly the debt there.  It's a guarantee more on the project.

MS. KHOO:  And then in light of that, what the regulation specifically states regarding construction risks is that the Board shall ensure that OPG recovers its capital and non-capital costs and firm commitments; is that right, to your knowledge?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That is what the legislation states, yes.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  So it seems that, putting those two together, it seems that the major issue with construction costs is simply their magnitude and implication for OPG's credit metrics and already taken account of there.  Would that -- would you agree with that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, I would not.  Credit metrics is certainly an important consideration, but in addition, we have this regulation which was implemented by the current legislature here in Ontario.  I don't know what legislature will choose to do ten years down the road.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Moving on now, continuing on with credit metrics, could you please turn to page 36 of your report.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  And here you emphasize that it was vital that utilities' capital structures are such that the credit ratios and expectation are near the middle of the range rather at the bottom; that's correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That would be my general view, yes.

MS. KHOO:  And now I'm referring to the OEB Staff's -- your response to VECC's interrogatories, which in the Webdrawer it's labelled OEB Staff IRR Exhibit M3.

So for those who have it open, it's on page -- when I refer to these interrogatory responses I'm going to refer to the PDF bar page number, because that seems the most straightforward.

So on page 991 in the PDF -- so here VECC provided you with the AUC decision from Proceeding 26-2-2, and they state:

"In the 2013 GCOC decision the commission confirmed its prior method of using credit metrics to assess the capital structure of utilities.  They also affirmed it intended for the credit metrics to be such that utilities could achieve an A rating."

And then they set a minimum benchmark for each.

So VECC had asked you in this interrogatory to confirm that the AUC, according to this statement, used a minimum benchmark for each credit metric, rather than a mid range one.

The response was not confirmed, so I was wondering if you can explain or elaborate on that now?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I can.  So if you look at page 1 of that response, where you have stated -- where you state question A, you have here, for example, earnings before interest and taxes covers of at least 2.0, funds from operation of debt, 11.1 to 14.3.

Actually, the AUC likes to see that in the middle of that range, and that's what they have been looking at in the past.  That's not a minimum.  That's in the middle of the range of funds from operation of debt of 11.1 to 14.3.

MS. KHOO:  When they say they used a minimum benchmark rating -- sorry, I may be missing something here -- and you're saying the bullets below are in fact mid range ratings?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, what I'm saying is that the middle point here, funds from operation of FFO to debt of 11.1 to 14.3.  And when the board -- when the Alberta Utilities Commission calculated these ratings in the past, they have always taken the middle of that range, not the minimum.

So they say they have to be in that range, but it's not the 11.1 that's relevant.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  So despite them saying minimum benchmark, you're saying that in practice, they use middle of the range.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Ms. Khoo, before asking the next question, we don't have paper copies of this.  If you scroll in the middle of it -- I'm trying to read it on the screen, and it keeps moving.  Can you -- once you get a bit, can you just let it sit there for a little bit?  It's hard to read it when it's moving.

MS. KHOO:  I can wait.

MS. SPOEL:  Thanks, Ms. Khoo.  Sorry for the interruption.

MS. KHOO:  I'm going to move on to common equity ratios, still based on the AUC evidence.  So this is still on this page, page 991.

The AUC also stated that a deemed equity ratio of 37 percent for both distinction and transmission utilities, including those which pay tax and those which currently do not pay tax, satisfies the fair return standard required when combined with 8.5 or 8.3 percent ROE.  Do you see that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  Great.  In this hearing, you recommended 40 percent common equity ratio for distribution utilities?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And you also -- and in this hearing, you did not appear on behalf of the AUC or consumer group or intervenors, is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.  In that proceeding, I appeared on behalf of the entities that are listed.

MS. KHOO:  The ones listed on the next page?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Not all of them, actually; only some of them.

MS. KHOO:  We're on page 992 now.  Can you specify which ones you appeared on behalf of?

DR. VILLADSEN:  All the ATCo companies, the Enmax companies, Fortis Alberta, as well as AltaGas.

MS. KHOO:  Looking at this table, it seems that pretty much all of the companies were granted 37 percent common equity ratio.  Is that correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  With the exception of AltaGas, yes.  I should say here, just for clarification, that at the proceeding, there was an ongoing proceeding on ATCo Transmission, so they were actually not finalizing that at the time.  They have since finalized that at 37 percent.  I have yet to see a decision come out, but Enmax Transmission and Enmax Distribution, again that's holding place, because there is an ongoing proceeding.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you for that.  With respect to ATCo, they are a major gas distributor in Alberta.  That's correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  They're a gas distributor, an electric distributor, and transmission company, yes.

MS. KHOO:  The 37 percent equity ratio is quite similar to the 36 percent ratio for Union Gas and Enbridge here in Ontario?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's in the same ballpark, yes.

MS. KHOO:  If you turn to the next page on the interrogatory response, looking at the response to item D, we confirm the AUC allows a return ROE of 8.3 percent for 2016, and 8.5 percent for 2017; that's right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  While the OEB formula for those same two years is a higher 9.19 percent and 8.78 percent.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's what the commissions have allowed, yes.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  With that said, could we please turn page 1040 of the PDF?  This is a response to VECC interrogatory 2D, and we've produced here a table from the evidence that Brattle submitted to the AUC in the proceeding we have been talking about, figure 21 showing the various ROE and common equity ratios.

I've been informed you were asked to confirm some arithmetic based on this table, which shows the average ROE and common equity ratio for natural gas in the United States in 2015 was 9.6 percent and 49.94 percent, respectively.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  While for Canada, those numbers -- ROE was 9.13 percent and the common equity ratio was 40.23 percent, is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct, but we should note that we're not necessarily comparing apples to apples because for the U.S., we're including all kinds of companies.  For Canada, it's mostly distribution companies. There's also some Crowns incorporated here, so they might not be quite comparable.  It's important to note that.

MS. KHOO:  With those caveats, though, on the whole it seems that Canadian distributors have both a lower allowed ROE and lower common equity ratio than their counterparts in the U.S.?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's what this table shows.  But again, before we really make any conclusions on it, we would have to look at what is the risk characteristics of the individual companies that are composed in these samples.

Most of the U.S. electrics, for example, will be integrated electric utilities and not distribution utilities.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you.  Just one moment, please.

With respect to the Crown corporations that you mentioned, are they regulated on a stand-alone basis or does it take into account the fact that they're Crown corporations?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That would depend on the jurisdiction.  Some jurisdictions will regulate them on a stand-alone basis.  Some jurisdictions will not even use rate of return regulations, but other methods.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Moving on, this is regarding the general regulatory regime and the fact of being subjected to one.

So I'm looking at a Concentric report that was provided as part of VECC interrogatory 6.  This is on page 1051 of the PDF -- or I should say the full report was provided as an attachment, and here we have a relevant excerpt from it.

So here again they're noting the various -- there seems to be an 11 percent or 10 percent difference between Canadian and U.S. figures, and you're saying this would be subject to the same response as earlier, I presume?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, you have to be careful of what you're comparing here.

MS. KHOO:  So maybe you could go a little bit more into the fact that it's not -- whenever we bring up these kind of comparisons, it's contextual and it depends; sometimes it matters and sometimes it doesn't.  So how would we make that distinction, in terms of when is this something we can take into account and when is it something we shouldn't?

DR. VILLADSEN:  What you have to look at all times is whether or not the entities we're looking at are comparable in terms of risk overall, and operate -- that is from all perspectives do they have the same financial risk, do they have the same business risk, do they have the same regulatory risk.  So we have to consider that.

That is a tough thing to do in general, but what you always have to at least look at is, are there distinctions in terms of what the operating companies are -- for example, most electric utilities in the U.S. are really integrated electric utilities.  That's not necessarily true in Canada, especially not in Ontario and Alberta, where you have mostly distribution companies because they're deregulated.

The second thing you have to take into account is whether or not there's any of these entities that might be listed here that are somehow treated uniquely in the sense that they might be Crown corporations.  I would also consider those as being unique.

So that's the first crack on what you would do, and then you would have to consider is there anything else that sort of distinguishes these entities.

MS. KHOO:  And when you mentioned earlier that some jurisdictions regulate utilities as stand-alone, some not at all, that's taken into account in these comparisons?  We don't have a mixture of these different utilities within the same tables?

DR. VILLADSEN:  You could.

MS. KHOO:  And why might that be the case?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I can't answer for exactly how Concentric prepared their report, but as I saw the report
-- and we don't have it in front of us, but I thought that what they did was simply to list what had been allowed in terms of equity percentages and return on equity in Canada, rather than trying to make a comparison between U.S. and Canada.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And then the next thing that I was interested in was how capital structure is treated by utilities in the United States.  On page 1052 of the interrogatory, which is the last page, this is Brattle's response to VECC interrogatory 6, and you pointed out -- you pointed out that while many Canadian regulators deem an equity ratio, many --


MS. LONG:  Ms. Khoo, can you just wait until we have  -- we have it --


MS. KHOO:  Oh, sorry, I thought it was already.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. KHOO:  Apologies, and thank you.

You pointed out that while many Canadian regulators deem an equity ratio, many U.S. regulators use the regulated entities' actual booked capital structure, so this seems to be another difference between how Canadian and U.S. utilities are regulated.

DR. VILLADSEN:  There's certainly a difference, but there's -- it's again -- you have to look at the individual companies, because certainly there's U.S. regulators also who deem capital structure.  Most notably the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission will do that.  But most accept the capital structure of the utilities.

MS. KHOO:  So when it comes to the common equity ratios among the companies in the sample group that you provided for this proceeding, were those chosen by the companies themselves?

DR. VILLADSEN:  All of my evidence is based on what they're reporting, so it's all based on their financials.  So, yes, they are chosen by the companies or whatever they can get in terms of the market.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And so in this case it seems that they've financed their generation with on average a lower equity ratio than is being proposed here; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Which number are you talking about?

MS. KHOO:  In terms of the common equity ratios that they've reported.


DR. VILLADSEN:  Which specific number are you referencing?

MS. KHOO:  The ones in your sample group.

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Could you elaborate, please?

DR. VILLADSEN:  If we go to my evidence -- and I would here reference you to -- if I go to figure 6 in my Exhibit M3, page 34 of my report, we will see here that the mean of the investor-owned utilities, 47.8, and I'm recommending 48.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Moving on, so returning back to the AUC proceeding that we were discussing, can you confirm that the capital structure recommendation of 40 percent equity was entirely based on your credit metrics analysis?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.  My credit metrics analysis was the main ingredient to that, but I also did some work and looked to the evidence that was provided by other parties as to whether or not that would be reasonable or not.

MS. KHOO:  So the starting point was the credit metrics, and then afterwards you looked to the other evidence to see if adjustments might be needed, or...

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, to see if there was any material issues that would require me to adjust that --


MS. KHOO:  Okay.

DR. VILLADSEN:  -- calculation.

MS. KHOO:  And the AUC in the end declined to follow this recommendation in their final decision; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, the AUC did not decline to follow the recommendation.  The AUC decided that they found 37 percent to be an appropriate number.

MS. KHOO:  And so the distinction being?

DR. VILLADSEN:  The AUC has never said they declined to look at my evidence.  The AUC said they found 37 percent to be adequate.

MS. KHOO:  And if you turn to -- so in the compendium there is an excerpt from decision EB-2005-0520, and I will send it out again after this just to ensure that people have it.  Oh, okay.  There we go.

MS. LONG:  Is that the first page of your compendium, Ms. Khoo?

MS. KHOO:  Yes.  Or...  If you could scroll down.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Ms. Khoo, do you have a cover page for this written evidence, or date?

MS. KHOO:  I'm sorry, it's five pages, so I -- they don't have page numbers on them.  I'm just double-checking something right now.

MR. RICHLER:  Sorry, and Madam Chair, just to clarify, I believe my friend is referring to her compendium, which has been marked as K19.5, which has no cover page, but which has a first page consisting of written evidence of A. Lawrence Kolbe.  Is that -- my friend can correct me if I'm wrong, but that's what I'm --


MS. KHOO:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  -- understanding.

MS. KHOO:  And so we are at the top of page 2, and what this is --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, sorry, Ms. Khoo, can you provide me with some context as to what this case was about?

MS. KHOO:  Oh, absolutely.  This is about where Dr. Paul Carpenter, from Brattle, presented business risk evidence on behalf of Brattle for Union Gas, so it's a Union Gas proceeding before the Ontario Energy Board, and the proceeding number is EB-2005-0520.

And so here --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, just a moment, please.  Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  Well, that's correct.  My recollection is this case was settled.  There is no decision to look at in relation to this issue, but that is from where this evidence is, if memory serves me correctly.

MS. KHOO:  I misspoke in that case.  That's fine.

So here he states that:  "In my" -- Well, essentially the first paragraph with respect to the observation for return on equity and the common equity ratio, it seems that there is a correspondence between the ROE, where it seems that, all other things being equal, decreasing ROE might call for increasing the common equity ratio to end up with a fair rate in the end.


MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, if I could just interject, if I may.  I don't think this evidence has been provided to the witness in advance, and it's not her evidence.  I'm not sure how she can be expected to answer questions about someone else's evidence in some other proceeding.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Khoo, when was this made available to the witness?

MS. KHOO:  It was made available earlier today.  So --


MS. LONG:  Have you had an opportunity to review this?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.

MS. LONG:  No.  Well, I don't think it's fair to ask her questions about this if she hasn't reviewed it.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Point taken.

MS. LONG:  If this is a major point that you want to pursue, you may want to take the lunch break now and provide the evidence to Dr. Villadsen, so she can review it and it may be she needs more than -- if you're going to go to the next decision, too, she may need the full decision so that she can review it in context.  So that would be for the first EB-2005, and then the next one is EB-2011-0210.

I don't know she will be able to review it if she doesn't have the full decision in front of her.  Or I guess, if Mr. Smith is telling us that this was settled and this isn't a decision, this was evidence filed in that proceeding.  Do you have that with you that you can make available to the witness?

MS. KHOO:  It may not be necessary.  I'm going to consult for a moment.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MS. KHOO:  I don't think this particular evidence -- I'll ask the question and you can let me know.  It was mostly to show support to raise the principle, and to ask if you agree that it does seem there is a principle that the higher the allowed ROE is, the lower the common equity ratio might be?

MS. LONG:  Can you answer that, Doctor?  Are you asking in the context of this evidence that was provided by Mr. Kolbe?  Are you asking if she agrees with that, or are you asking in general?

MS. KHOO:   In general.  The evidence was meant to show, I think, more empirical support for the existence of this principle, in order to raise it -- if that makes sense.

Are you able to answer?  If you're not, that's okay.

DR. VILLADSEN:  In general, the key principle is that you must meet the fair return standard.  To meet the fair return standard, you make sure there is sufficient return for an entity.  And if you have a high ROE, everything else equal, you will get a higher return.  If you have a higher equity percentage, everything else equal, you will have a higher return for the company.

So yes, that's a relationship.  Now, you also have to take into account -- and that's why I can't comment on this specific document here -- is what is the risk of the entity for which you are determining that fair return, and I don't know what Union Gas back in the day had in terms of risk compared to any other entity.

But that's the ultimate thing you have to determine.  The fair return standard has to be met, and you can do that in several different ways.  But you have to ultimately ensure that's what you do.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Moving on to the last issue, this is the issue of the potential risk of moving to incentive rate management.

So can you confirm that part of your recommendation for the common equity ratio is partly based on this supposed increased risk of moving to this new regime?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I do consider that to be an increase in risk, simply because the variability of outcomes can be higher.  However, I would emphasize that the key issue for my higher equity recommendation is the higher capital expenditures.  That's the number one risk we're facing here.

MS. KHOO:  In terms of giving weight to these various factors, higher cap ex is priority evidence and regulation is just slightly compared to the cap ex.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MS. KHOO:  And I don't know if you saw yesterday when we submitted part of an OEB Staff report reviewing the impact of ROE on Union Gas and Enbridge in 2011 and 2012.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Is that part of the 18.1 document?

MS. KHOO:  It is not.  I was just asking if you were aware of that.

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  That's fine.  In this document, which is part of the compendium that was provided yesterday for panel 5 A1, on page 44 --


MS. LONG:  Dr. Villadsen, do you have that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I do.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MS. SPOEL:  Ms. Khoo, what's the exhibit number for that compendium?  I have a pile of them here.

MR. SMITH:  18.1.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you.  This is on page 59 in the PDF bar.  Are you there, Dr. Villadsen?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, great.  So here basically the Board found that the utilities had actually continued to overearn under the incentive rate-making method.  Does that impact your opinion in any way in terms of the risks?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, because when you talk about incentive rate-making, in the nature of it you have higher variability and that's the key impact on this issue.  In every single way, it really depends on the exact implementation.

I would also note that for the gas distributors and electric distributors, you've had incentive rate-making for a while, which means it usually becomes easier to actually meet the standards over time.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you.  One moment, please?  That's all of my questions, and thank you so much.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Khoo.  I think we'll take our lunch break now for an hour.

Mr. Shepherd, you're going to be relying on your compendium from yesterday, 18.4.  Dr. Villadsen, do you have a copy of that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I do.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Mr. Pollock, are you relying on something this afternoon as well?

MR. POLLOCK:  It will be my compendium from yesterday and a couple interrogatories.

MS. LONG:  Do you have a copy of that as well?

DR. VILLADSEN:  And that is?

MS. LONG:  The CME compendium, which is 18.3.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I have that.

MS. LONG:  Okay, good.  Then armed with all that, we are good to go for lunch for an hour.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:27 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:31 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith, are there any preliminary matters?

MR. SMITH:  There are not.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And for a time check, if you take the break at 3:00, I can guarantee I'll be finished, and if it's earlier than that, I still hope to be finished, but not as certain.

MS. LONG:  Okay.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Dr. Villadsen -- am I pronouncing that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, that's good.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could -- I want to start with instructions from Board Staff.  When Board Staff retained you it was after an RFP, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the RFP emphasized that they wanted an independent view of the capital structure, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, as the Staff continually reiterated to me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I --


DR. VILLADSEN:  And Staff has continually reiterated that they want an independent view.

MR. SHEPHERD:  At no time did they say we have an expert retained by the utility, we need some balance, and so we need the other side of the story told, right?  That was -- you were never told to bias it in favour of the other side to get balance, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I was always told to provide my independent view on it, that's all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely neutral, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, if I understand correctly
-- oh, let me just ask two quick things.  The impact of moving from 45 percent to 48 percent, did you ever calculate what the actual dollar cost to ratepayers is for that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any sense of what it is?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I would think it would be in the order of maybe 10 to 20 million a year in the first year and going up from there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's geometric, right?  Goes up with rate base.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.  Yes, it goes up with rate base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If I were to tell you it's about $150 million, would -- over the five years, does that sound like it might be right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It sounds high, but I'll take that subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And the other preliminary thing I wanted to ask you about is, Concentric, when they gave their recommendation, they said their 49 percent is a floor.  It shouldn't be lower than that.  It could be as much higher as you want, but not less than 49.  Is your recommendation a floor, a ceiling, or a number?

DR. VILLADSEN:  My recommendation is a number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So your thinking -- if you think of it as a bell curve, it's sort of at the top of the bell curve.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  Could you turn to page 2 of our compendium?  This is the compendium from yesterday, 18.4, K18.4.  Do you have that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is actually the Concentric report, but it's a handy-dandy way of focusing in on the risk issues, because what you did -- let me just stop for a second.  What you did is you looked at changes to business risk in an absolute way, but you also looked at changes of business risk in the context of credit metrics, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that difference, that adding the credit metrics in the independent review of the credit analysis, this is one of the things that you added that wasn't in the Concentric report, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And am I right that we think of business risk and financial risk as different, but it's true, isn't it, that when you're talking about capital structure, all risks are actually a financial risk, because they're actually about what investors see?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I'm not sure I quite follow you, but I can say that certainly all risk are financial in the sense that they impact what investors think about the company, so you have to quantify it somehow if you want to come up with a cost of capital or an equity structure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'll give you an example, and we're going to get to the specific risks in a second, but let's just look at the Darlington Refurbishment Program, which everybody knows is a big risk.  And that -- as a pure business risk, what management sees, that's quite different from what an investor sees, right?  The investor still has to consider all those operational things, but the investor is looking really at it from a different point of view, true?

DR. VILLADSEN:  They're looking at some different point of view, but many of the things they look at would be the same things.  Both management and investors would look at the risk inherent in undertaking a capital spending program, they'd be looking at operating risks, and what does that mean.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll give you an example.  When you're management, and you look at the execution risk of Darlington, you have to look at, well, what's my plan, what's my Plan B if this contractor screws up?  Do I have a plan?  Yes, I do.  Okay.  And that's a risk that you can manage.

From the investor's point of view, they're not looking -- they're looking at whether management is good enough to manage that risk, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  They're looking at what dollars are at risk.  They're not looking at the day-to-day operations.  They hope management will handle it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Okay.  So now let me go to page 2 of our materials, and there are six risks here that Concentric says are the reasons why you should increase the equity thickness from 45 to 59 in their case.  The first is the change in the nuclear to hydroelectric asset mix, and I think you've said that by itself you don't consider that a significant risk; is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's certainly a risk, but it's not nearly as significant as the second one, which is the big capital expenditure program.  That's by far the largest risk we have here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  And the second and third, because the third, Pickering, is sort of part of that capital expenditures risk, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you lump them together and you say they've got these big projects going on, they're going to spend a lot of money, and there is a risk associated with that.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I lump their capital expenditures together, so I don't distinguish between Pickering, but clearly Darlington is a big part of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Then on the fourth bullet, the move to hydroelectric rate-setting and long-term rate-setting, you've said, if I can paraphrase what you've said, yes, it's an incremental risk, but it's not enough to really worry about it, and it wouldn't change your recommendation up or down.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I don't think I ever said that.  What I did say, it's not nearly as important for this other aspect.  It didn't sort of change my -- significantly my recommendation, because then I would have to do an investigation of whether my comparable companies had similar issues.  They don't, actually.  So everyone else equal, that would indicate that OPG would be slightly riskier than my comparable companies who don't have this risk-making.  But it was not -- the all-important risk here is capital expenditures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then just to finish this off, the recovery risks for pension and OPEBs and for rate smoothing, you've said that you're not -- you don't believe that those are significant enough to worry about, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I don't believe that the OPEB and pensions are significant enough to worry about because of the Board's commitment to having a deferral account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What about the rate smoothing?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's clear that that puts pressure on credit metrics, but I don't think it's -- and it's sort of a -- it's hard to distinguish from the capital spend because that's the reason we have the rate smoothing, so it does put you at some risk, because you are pushing your cash flow further out in the future.  That always is a risk for a company, and it put pressure on your credit metrics, so if you were to do a credit metric analysis within rate smoothing you would get better credit metrics if you did not have a rate smoothing.  That's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  This risk is the recovery risk --


DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- so -- and you don't think there is a recovery risk associated with --


DR. VILLADSEN:  Not in the near-term, but I do think that it is certainly a risk you have to consider.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the last thing, the risk associated with the comparable firms, you've done the same thing, you've just used a different proxy group?

DR. VILLADSEN:  In the sense, yes, I used a different proxy group and I measured the equity slightly differently, in that I went straight to the -- what other companies report themself or what's available to the market rather than to allow returns -- equity ratios, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So what I take from this is that while there's all this other stuff that we could talk about, and we will, because that's what we're here for, but the really big thing is the construction risk.  That's what really matters.

DR. VILLADSEN:  The really big thing is not construction risk but capital expenditure risk and recovery of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, all right.  So let's get to that then, that you've called that the main risk, and I think Mr. Coyne and Mr. Dane agree with you that it's the biggest risk, and I take it you agree with them that the primary nature of that risk is that it's an execution risk?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's an execution risk and, to a degree, also the postponement of recovering of that risk.  You will recover it years down the road, and it's very difficult to predict as we sit here today what will happen 20, 30 years down the road.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you were project financing it, for example, you would have to take that into account, right?  If you had a non-recourse project finance on Darlington -- which would be hilarious, by the way -- then you'd be very concerned about that long-term recovery risk for that project, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Oh, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But when the risk you're assessing is the company, isn't that risk different?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It is and that's why we -- for example, I am recommending here 48 percent equity.  If you were talking about an independent power producer wanting to refurbish Darlington, we would be talking about something very, very different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, if they could get debt at all.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to talk then a little bit about this because although -- it's true, isn't it, that all big construction projects are risky?  It's the nature of the beast?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's because when you do a big construction project, there's enough complexity that you can never plan enough to get everything right at the outset, is that true?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's true that things change as you go along; regulations will change, materials, et cetera, will change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you find things like -- Mr. Coyne mentioned the Muskrat Falls project.  Are you familiar with that project?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Vaguely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's 6 or 7, or maybe it's 10 billion now, a hydroelectric project in Labrador.  And the risk of that sort of project, where things can happen like you find different sediment than you expected, that's not that dissimilar from something like the Darlington refurbishment, right, conceptually?

DR. VILLADSEN:  The nature of the risks are similar.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The actual risks are different?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Do you think that in general, nuclear projects of a similar size to, say, a hydroelectric project are more risky, less risky, or the same?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I think they would be more risky.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Because there are so many environmental issues with a nuclear project.  And the other problem we have in terms of comparison is that you will have a hard time finding a hydroelectric project that's the same size as the Darlington refurbishment.  It's usually one big unit, whereas when you talk about hydroelectric, you used to talk about a number of smaller units, which is -- in here, you spread it over a larger number of units.  In nuclear, you usually talk about big units.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true.  But I'm trying to get a sort of apples to apples comparison, and at the same  size -- I mean, there have been hydroelectric projects that are $13 billion, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So at the same size, they have a comparable risk level, right?  It's not hugely dissimilar?

DR. VILLADSEN:  There is the additional risk of the environmental consequences.  It's dramatic if anything goes wrong on a nuclear --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And is that risk primarily a risk that is pure environmental, or mainly regulatory compliance of the environmental requirements?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's a little bit of both.  Regulatory compliance will change over time, so that's a risk you take on with these kinds of projects.  That will change also perceivably on hydroelectric; there could be other types of regulations on that.

But it's also a pure physical risk of if there's any kind of things that goes wrong, so to speak, it's a dramatic consequence, even though that tends to be more of an issue as you get into operations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't it true that at the point where you have an environmental problem, equity thickness doesn't matter any more?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That depends on the magnitude of the environmental problem.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in nuclear, right -- we haven't had a significant nuclear accident that somebody said, well, thank goodness we had four percent more equity.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's true, but we certainly has smaller nuclear accidents where the strength of the utility is important.  Most importantly, you can think of, for example, in southern California, Edison's retirement of San Onofre, which it's important they actually had the equity thickness they had for that issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  Okay.  So when talking about the size of the capital expenditure program, you talked about a couple things.  One of the things you said is that while yes, there's a bunch of negatives, it's also a growth opportunity in the sense that -- and I'm paraphrasing, and you'll tell me whether I'm right -- that they're renewing and expanding their ability to provide generation for the province.  And that creates revenues down the line, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It makes them certainly stay in that business for a longer period of time because eventually, if you had not refurbished Darlington, you would have to retire it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So from OPG's overall credit point of view, they're actually stronger once they have that 7000 megawatts, or whatever it is, running for the next 30 years, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Stronger compared to what?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Compared to not doing the refurbishment.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I haven't looked at those numbers.  You would have to calculate the numbers on what is the revenue relative to the cost, and then you can evaluate that.  And that's why I recommend, for example, that the equity thickness of OPG we evaluate in the next payment period, because then you will hopefully have done most of this capital expenditures, and then you can see how exactly it --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't going to go there yet, but let's do that right now.

In 2021, this Board has to look again.  And at that time, you've only done one unit, or maybe you haven't even finished it yet.  But you have a good sense of whether you're having cost overruns, and delays, and stuff like that.

Does that change the risk for DRP, even though a lot of the money is still to be spent?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It might.  You would have to look at it at that point in time, and see where are we, how has everything been going.  You also, at that point in time, will have better experience with IRM and see how that has been panning out.

MR. SHEPHERD:   All right.  Are you concerned that with IRM on the hydroelectric side, or the sort of modified approach to IRM on the nuclear side?  Which is the one you see as the risk, or both?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Both.  Primarily, nuclear is clearly more risky because there is very little experience with any kind of generation incentive rate-making.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but they're doing basically a five-year cost forecast, so it's not -- it's sort of IRM, but not really.  Does that change your view, or is that still -- because it's out five years, it's still risky?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's still risky because it's out five years.  But in any kind of incentive rate-making, what matters is exactly how you implement it, and that will vary hugely from place to place.

So now we haven't implemented it here, but in the proposal, it's sort of in between a strict IRM and not an IRM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because it starts with costs.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then we're going to have a productivity factor to adjust them?

DR. VILLADSEN:  The simple fact it's five years out does impose risk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's true -- it's not a linear relationship between how many years out and how much more risk there is, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, it's actually more like an exponential growth, if anything.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Has there been work done on that, on how risk relates to IRM or how -- sorry, how risk relates to how far out your rates are set?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I can't think of any work on that, as I sit here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask that is because this Board has consistently said that IRM doesn't affect risk, and they're not going to increase anybody's equity because they're on IRM.  And that's generally be true in the U.S., too, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That has, in most cases, been true.  But it has really I can't -- there's very little IRM in the U.S.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True.  But there are some utilities that have a rate case, and then you know they're not going to be back in for five years, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That is true.  In most cases, these are very stable entities that don't have big construction programs ongoing.  That's by far the majority of them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're wires companies or pipe companies, and they --


DR. VILLADSEN:  And they're even some integrated electric utilities, but they have no major generation construction, no major transmission lines coming in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the thing that makes the nuclear IRMs so risky is really that they're not in a steady state; they're making big changes?

DR. VILLADSEN:  There's no question that not being steady state makes an IRM more risky.  Any IRM will increase the variability around the expected outcome, and a good IRM will obviously put the expected outcome in the right place, the symmetry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The other thing you talked about, you said you weren't as concerned about the DRP, the Darlington refurbishment, perhaps, as you might be, because the province appears to be solidly behind it.  Can you expand on that?


DR. VILLADSEN:  Sure.  If you were having -- and that's goes sort of back to what we talked a little bit about earlier, that if you were having an independent power-producing construct Darlington with no guarantees of recovery from the province, you would probably not be able to finance it.  You would see very high risks, so -- and you even see in the U.S. on the fewer entities that have tried, like most notably Southern, that has constructed the Vogtle, they're having federal debt guarantees to do so.


So the reason that you even can compare OPG to a comparable group is that they have this guarantee, because if they wouldn't have a -- you can call it a guarantee or a regulation that requires recovery.


So if you didn't have that you would see very challenging conditions for financing this and you would see -- you would have to make sure the credit metrics were completely in line with a very high level.  We don't have that in this case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Somebody said to me at lunchtime that in the U.S., at least, nobody would ever spend any significant money on a nuclear station unless they had very, very solid government backing.  Whether formal or informal, it had to be solid or they just wouldn't do it; is that fair?


DR. VILLADSEN:  That is fair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So is it fair then to -- when you're looking at -- and I'm sort of coming around to the stand-alone principle a little bit, but not quite.  Is it fair then when you're looking at OPG to take into account the fact that there's very low likelihood that the government will allow them to blow their brains out on nuclear, on the nuclear construction?


DR. VILLADSEN:  I'm not sure I quite understand the question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I shouldn't have used the cute language.  There's very little probability that the government will let creditors get whacked, get hurt, as a result of overruns or delays in Darlington.  Is that -- we should take that into account in looking at their risk, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  Yeah, I have done so.  If it wasn't for the case that we had, these regulations in Ontario, I would have been at a very different level.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  Well, because you're comparing OPG to a whole lot of utilities in the United States that all -- when they're doing nuclear stuff, they have very strong government support, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  All of the ones that I have in my sample, none of them are engaging in significant nuclear construction activity.  They're all in a very stable environment, which is why I think they're comparable to OPG.
MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


DR. VILLADSEN:  With the government --


MR. SHEPHERD:  With the government support.


DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's what I'm trying to get my head around, and you're saying on the one hand company X, which doesn't have a big capital program, is -- but in the U.S. is comparable to OPG, which does have a big capital program, but they're comparable because OPG has very strong government support, which reduces the problem with the big capital program, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  They're comparable in the sense that their generation mix and their asset composition is similar, or as similar as you can get it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it sounds like what you're saying is that while OPG has these big risks associated with Darlington, because of the provincial support, they're sort of more like a stable nuclear generator in the U.S.  Isn't that what you're saying when you're saying they're comparable?


DR. VILLADSEN:  I'm saying that that is probably the best measure we can have of what the equity thickness should be, would be to compare them to entities in the U.S. that are in a stable environment and that has a lot of nuclear generation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, yesterday we took Mr. Coyne and Mr. Dane to page 5 of our materials, which is the sad tale of Westinghouse and how it might affect the Vogtle and Summer projects.  Are you familiar with that?


DR. VILLADSEN:  I am.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right that those projects, while they are nominally still going ahead, are at much more risk today than they were a little while ago?


DR. VILLADSEN:  There's no question there's much higher risk today than there was a month ago.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I was looking to see how these two projects have affected the two -- the various companies that have been involved.  And Southern has not been downgraded, but Georgia Power was downgraded at some point, what, a year ago, because of the Vogtle project?


DR. VILLADSEN:  I believe so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  By Moody's, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But am I right that that was -- that downgrade was after problems had already started to occur, there were already cost overruns, there were already delays in the project; is that right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  There has been cost overruns for quite a while at Vogtle in Georgia here, yes, so it would have been after.  There's been cost overruns for the last two years, probably.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And when Georgia Power and Southern -- or let's just say Georgia Power.  When Georgia Power originally went into that project, they were not downgraded, were they?


DR. VILLADSEN:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Although their credit metrics -- they knew their credit metrics were going to decline, right, and they did in fact?


DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the rating agencies thought that with the government support they had, because they had guarantees, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  They have debt guarantees, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they had a solid plan and regulatory support.  The rating agencies said we're still going to keep them at, what was it, triple B plus or something?


DR. VILLADSEN:  I can't remember the exact --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I can't either, so it doesn't matter, but they didn't change them.


DR. VILLADSEN:  They did not.  It's also important to know here that Georgia Power is a small component of Southern Company --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


DR. VILLADSEN:  -- which is a big company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so it wasn't just the federal guarantees, it was also the parent guarantee, in effect, not the explicit guarantee, but the parent -- investors knew the parent would back up its sub; is that right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  They believed so at least, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Okay.  So I want to turn to a couple of the other risks that Concentric talked about, just to make sure I understand what your view is on them.  And let me start with Pickering extended operations.  You've lumped this in as it's part of the construction risk issue, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's clearly nothing like the risk associated with Darlington.  It's risk, but it's not like Darlington, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And is that just because of the dollars involved, or is it also because of the short-term nature of it and things like that?


DR. VILLADSEN:  It's because of both, but the main reason would be because of the dollar amount.  It's just way smaller than the Darlington.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you in fact said at one point in your report that you think that Pickering extended operations is less risky than many other nuclear construction projects that you've seen, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  I don't recall saying that, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll show you where it is.  It's on page 26 of your report.  And it is at the end of the top paragraph:

"I consider this risk to be less than the risks faced by other regulated nuclear generators engaged in construction programs."


DR. VILLADSEN:  Yeah, the important part here is the prior line, where I say:

"Any pre-commitment to the continued operation from officials reduces the risk of undertaking the capital expenditures."


So it's the pre-commitment that really reduces risk here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's interesting.  So when this Board says -- assuming this Board says we approve X amount spending for Pickering extended operations, at that point investors take a different view of the risk.  They say, well, this has been approved now, we're okay, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  They say the risk can be reduced relative to a non-pre-approval.  They don't say this.  They can't ignore it, but it's certainly been reduced.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's true of Darlington too, isn't it?


DR. VILLADSEN:  It is.  As we talked about before, if we did not have a provincial commitment to this project we would be talking about very, very different numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but I'm also talking about this Board's decision.  This Board is going to make a decision about the rate-base implications of the Darlington project, and once it's made that decision the risk goes down a little bit, right?


DR. VILLADSEN:  It's certainly true that the more of a commitment we have to a project risk is reduced, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  From not just the province but also from the regulator.


DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, from any kind of these parties.  That would be true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  So I wanted to -- you heard the whole discussion yesterday about whether nuclear inherently requires a higher equity thickness because its a riskier.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I heard the discussion, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you agree that in general, the greater your percentage of nuclear generation, the greater equity thickness you're going to need?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That would generally be true, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I want you to turn then to page 34 of your report, and the reason -- this is your proxy group, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  By the way, is your proxy group all 12, or only the 8 at the top?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Only the 8 at the top.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm right, am I not, the two with the biggest nuclear component are also the two with the lowest equity thickness?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That is true.  But there is a context to that, and the main context here would be if you look at someone like El Paso Electric, El Paso Electric is a company that's coming out of financial trouble.  Some years ago, that was a non-investment grade company, so that is an unusual company, I would say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Surely that would mean they'd need higher equity?

DR. VILLADSEN:  This is what equity they had, which is a reflection what they have been infused by their parent, plus what they have been able to retain as earnings.  And because they, in the past, have not had earnings, they have a low equity ratio.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So their equity ratio is driven by their inability to get more equity?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That has been true in past for El Paso.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why are they in your proxy group?  Surely they're not a good comparable?

DR. VILLADSEN:  They have a high percentage of nuclear operations, and El Paso is past that problem.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But their equity is not reflective of their generation, is it?  Not even at all, a little bit?

DR. VILLADSEN:  There is a huge range of what you can think of as being within range of here.  I don't think you can look at any one individual company and say that is out of the range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you choose a proxy group, don't you look at every individual company and say is this appropriate for my proxy group?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I certainly do and I screen out any company that is currently in financial distress.  I screen out any company that is currently in a merger or acquisition mode.  I screen out companies that don't have appropriate credit ratings.

So I don't take companies that are non-investment grade, and then I screened in this case based on nuclear generation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And El Paso is now investment grade, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It is, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it investment grade because of the guarantee of its parent?

DR. VILLADSEN:  This is the parent.

MR. SHEPHERD:   Oh, this is the parent, okay.

DR. VILLADSEN:  And El Paso has no real subsidiaries other than the El Paso operating company, which is 98 percent of the company and it's purely an integrated electric utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is Entergy Arkansas also a company that was in financial difficulty?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It just has a 41.7 equity because they thought that was fine?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's what the company currently has, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I'm going to come back to your proxy group in a minute; I just wanted to check that.

As part of that discussion yesterday, we talked about the relationship between nuclear and hydroelectric in the Concentric proxy group, and that's at page 27 of our materials.

And when we asked Mr. Coyne yesterday about this, he said none of this is valid at all.  You can't do a correlation between percentage generation and equity thickness.  Do you agree with that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I do.  And I would like to add to that that you have here 16 observations.  It's very hard to make statistical meaningful prediction with 16 observation.  And I will -- based on what I'm looking at here, if I look at the chart on the right, the nuclear chart, if you eliminate the two extreme outliers, which would be at the bottom right-hand corner, the lower right-hand corner, that would probably be PNM.

And if you eliminate the top on the left-hand side in that same chart, which I think will be Allete, I think your chart would look very different, which is if you take outliers out, your chart looks different.  You have 16 observations.  I don't think this chart tells you much about anything.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What it tells you is that in their proxy group, there is no statistical correlation between the percentage of nuclear and equity thickness.  Is that fair?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I don't think you can derive a statistical correlation one set of observations, one year of 16 observations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So do you have any, or have you seen any empirical analysis that demonstrates that companies with more nuclear require thicker equity?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I don't think you can find real empirical analysis, because there is relatively few such companies.

What is true, if you look cross-sectional, you will find -- and I have done that in the past.  I haven't submitted it here.  You will find that companies that have certain types of generations tend to have higher equity percentage, or alternatively, higher cost of capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, in the United States, it's coal that's the big problem right now, right?  Isn't it coal that requires that you have stronger credit protection?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Coal is certainly more risky than natural gas, but I wouldn't say it's at the same level at nuclear.  And the main reason I am saying that is one, we have a different administration in the U.S. which means coal is probably not in the near term going to be subject to the nearly the same amount of environmental regulation.

Secondarily, most coal plants are in size much smaller than a nuclear plant, so any one plant you need to do something to will be at a much smaller scale.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So that's an interesting point, though, that any utility that has a small number of large generating facilities is going to be inherently riskier than one with a large number of smaller generating facilities, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's true, and it will also be true that if you had a diversity of your generation assets, that would be less risky than if you have just one type.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it enough diversity to have hydroelectric and nuclear in equal percentages, or is that not enough?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Not enough for what?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what I'm saying is if you have hydroelectric and nuclear in balance, let's say, then adding some coal, is that going to improve your risk substantially, or not?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, adding other sources such as natural gas might improve your risk profile, but it depends on what are you actually replacing with that natural gas fired generation and do you have a market for it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  We're talking -- in all of this, we're talking about regulated businesses, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But your proxy group isn't regulated businesses; it's all, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  My proxy group has 96 percent of regulated businesses.  I chose them purposely to be very regulated.  They don't have market risk or anything like that.  It's so minuscule that it's not worth mentioning what they have in my group.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we go to your proxy group, because I have some questions about that?

So the first question is that your proxy group is only eight, and yet you have 12 companies on the list and the interesting -- sorry, I guess -- is it eight?  Yes, it's eight.  But the four that you excluded include the three lowest by a long way, and that seems odd to me.  I would think that you would want to say is this right, isn't this going to bias my sample.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I would say that the not a fair comparison because if I look at someone like Idacorp that has huge amounts of hydro, they have an equity percentage of 54 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?

DR. VILLADSEN:   If I look at B.C. Hydro and Bonneville Power, they have a lot of hydro.  But at the same time, these two entities are sponsored by government entities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Although both have their rates set on the classic cost of service approach that we're using here?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, that's not true for Bonneville Power.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is true for B.C. Hydro?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I believe so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is true for TVA, or not?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How are their rates set?

DR. VILLADSEN:  TVA rates are set on a multiple -- so they need to meet certain credit metrics, and that's how they set rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's sort of a backwards way of doing the same thing, isn't it?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, because it's not nearly the same kind of credit metrics that you would want to have a stand-alone entity have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's more government --


DR. VILLADSEN:  More government.  And literally, someone like Bonneville Power borrows from the government.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Like OPG?  Or different?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I don't know exactly how Bonneville Power does that, so I can't answer that question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I'm trying to understand, is -- I'm looking at your list, and I'm thinking to myself, well, is OPG more like B.C. Hydro, or is it more like El Paso Electric -- I won't use El Paso, because they're in trouble -- like Entergy Arkansas.  Which is it more like?  And I would have thought it's more like B.C. Hydro.  Is that wrong?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's wrong.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why is that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's wrong for a simple reason that B.C. Hydro does not have nuclear generation.  You want nuclear generation in this, and you want to have a group of companies.  I would much have preferred to have more than my eight companies, but I couldn't find more than eight that actually satisfied all my criteria.  So you wouldn't want to compare to any one individual company, but I think the mix of my eight companies reasonably representative.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, of course they're all American, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Unfortunately, we don't really have Canadian companies that own significant amount of generation that are stand-alone companies.  We don't have any such companies in Canada.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So doesn't that mean that by implication you're saying that Canadian regulators should decide on equity thickness based on American standards?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, I think the Board will decide on its premises that it should be -- set an equity ratio that will enable OPG to earn its fair return.  And we for that purpose use benchmarks and we use the best benchmarks we can find.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, is the key to earn the fair return or is the key to maintain the credit metrics?

DR. VILLADSEN:  The standard is, you need to earn a fair return.  Credit metrics is a different measure.  In the case of OPG, as my calculations would have shown that I wouldn't be able to actually put them in the middle of the credit metrics, as specified by S&P, with a 48 percent equity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's talk about that.  Can we go to page -- if I can find it -- page 18 of our compendium.  So this is S&P talking about OPG, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they had downgraded OPG because they downgraded the province, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That is the reason they cited, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they didn't cite any reasons for downgrading OPG separately from the province, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Not in this document, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, is there some other document in which they --


DR. VILLADSEN:  Not that I know of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So on page 18 they say, "Downside scenario" -- and we quoted this to Mr. Coyne yesterday, and they say:

"...we believe a negative rating action on OPG is highly unlikely in the next 24 months."

But -- and I'm not asking you about that.  I'm going to the -- here's the part that I'm surprised about, given your evidence.  In the third-last line:

"If we expected AFFO to debt to fall below 9 percent for several years, that's when we would lower the rating."

So I don't understand why you're using 12 and they're using nine.

DR. VILLADSEN:  They're taking into account here the support from the province, whereas on a stand-alone basis you would need to be higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, that's good.  So then am I right in understanding that if this Board were to conclude that it should set the equity thickness for OPG, taking into account the provincial back stop, then they would not increase it from 45, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's not accurate, because --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. VILLADSEN:  -- in my calculations of the credit metrics I found that at 48 percent we would not meet the stand-alone criteria.  Now, I did not rely on that to determine at 48 percent, because if I had relied on the credit metrics on the stand-alone basis alone that would have been a higher number.  So what I did instead is to say let's look at some stable companies that have a high degree of nuclear and see what they can operate with.  That reduced that amount to 48.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the stable companies included, for example, El Paso, which was in trouble?

DR. VILLADSEN:  El Paso has been in investment grades for the last four years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  What I'm trying to get my head around here is -- and I said this to Mr. Coyne yesterday.  I still don't understand.  You're saying the risks are going up and creditors need a thicker equity for more protection if the company is to finance itself properly, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, and to meet the fair return standard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the -- and both credit rating agencies are saying, yes, they're going to build Darlington, yes, they're going to spend all this money, and we're just fine with their current rating, thanks very much.  Isn't that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's not quite what they're saying.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, are they saying this has a negative outlook?  Are they saying there's some potential that this will be downgraded?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, they're not, but one thing I would draw your attention to in that page you just referred me to is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

DR. VILLADSEN:  -- that the anchor rating from S&P is a double B plus, which is a non-investment grade.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought double B plus was investment grade?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, triple B plus is an investment grade.  Double B plus is a non-investment grade.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Which means that if it wasn't for the support of the province, et cetera, you would not be having an investment grade company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is that a change from 2013-0321, the last case?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I did not look at the credit ratings back then.  At least I don't have them in front of me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Their stand-alone has never been investment grade since they were regulated.  Isn't that true?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's only been downgraded once, and it was downgraded one notch, right?  So if it was downgraded one notch to double B plus, then it was never investment grade, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I'll take that subject to check, but I don't have the documents in front of me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's not a change.

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, but the risk of the OPG is a change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but S&P and DBRS don't agree with you.

DR. VILLADSEN:  S&P and DBRS are concerned only about credit metrics.  They are not -- and creditworthiness.  They are not concerned about the fair return standard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what was the added value that you brought when you did the credit analysis then?  I'm not sure I understand.  Because it was important that you did that, and now you're saying, but it doesn't matter.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I did that analysis because I wanted
-- for two reasons, really.  For one, I wanted to make sure that there was nothing unusual in what was presented by the company, and I got comparable, although not exactly the same, results, but I wanted to make sure that that was not something odd going on here because Concentric hadn't done it.

Secondary, I want to make sure that you are having the financial integrity standard being fulfilled, because if you are well over the financial integrity standard without having an increase in equity ratio, we need to consider what that means.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the credit rating agencies have considered what that means, and they have said it doesn't mean anything.

DR. VILLADSEN:  The credit rating agencies have not seen the outcome of this proceeding yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they're assuming the current credit situation and they're saying with the current situation, big construction project, lots of risks, big execution risk, 45 percent equity, we're fine, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  They say they're fine for now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what's going to change that?  Because both of them have said stable outlook, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Stable outlook means in the next 12 months or so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, S&P is next 24 months, right?  That's what --


DR. VILLADSEN:  They said they didn't want to change it.  For stable outlook it's a 12-month outlook.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So they're saying unless something bad happens in that time we're good, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I wouldn't phrase it that way, but they have said they are stable outlook, they've said they don't expect changes in 24 months.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then why would you think the risk and the -- therefore the credit situation has deteriorated when they don't?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I didn't say the credit had deteriorated.  I said the credit metrics have deteriorated and will deteriorate going forward.  That's a different issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would this Board care if the credit rating agencies don't care?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I would think this Board would care about a fair return standard and meeting that standard.  I would think this Board would care about being able to attract capital regardless what S&P might say going forward.  I would think they would care about the whole picture, and not just one credit report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that brings us back to provincial ownership, because this is really the crux of this, right?

If you treat this company as stand-alone, then you have to look at it like a merchant generator, right, doing a 13-billion-dollar nuclear project and that's bad, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  If that was the case, you would see returns way higher than what this Board allows, and equity would have to go way, way high for you to make that feasible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the interest rates that the company paid on its debt would still be higher, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  What you're saying is because of the stand-alone principle, this Board should pretend that OPG is not owned by the province.  But then the big change in risk is entirely driven by a provincial decision.  Does that seem right to you?

DR. VILLADSEN:  The Board is not to pretend that there is no guarantee.  The Board is to certainly take into account there is this regulation – 53/05, I believe it's called.  And they're certainly to take that into account because you always take into account the regulatory environment in which an entity operates, because that determines its risk.

However, the Board is also to look at what does that entity on a stand-alone basis with all the regulations, et cetera, that are in place, what is an appropriate equity structure for this company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's where I'm having the problem.  The stand-alone basis requires that you assume that the province isn't backing them, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. VILLADSEN:  You're taking into account the regulations that are in place, just like you are in the U.S. when you're determining what equity, et cetera, what return on equity Southern should have, you are taking into account that there is a guarantee from the federal government towards Vogtle.  Because otherwise, I don't know how Georgia Power would possibly raise capital if you were to not take that into account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See here's -- I'm going to put this to you and see whether you can help me understand it.

The way I see this, the big risk we're talking about is one that the government told OPG to do some things, spend a bunch of capital, and it's going to do that.  And because of that, it's going to have a big increase in risk.

And at the same time, the government is saying we have your back -- not in a formal guarantee way, but we know that's true.  I take it you're saying there is a net increase in risk between the two.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would that be true?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Because if you had, for example, a legal guarantee from the government that was binding the government going forward for the next 30, 40 years, however long OPG is going to operate these entities, that would be different.  What you're having is a regulation that says you will try to recover those.  At the same time, we don't know what's going to happen 20, 30 years out.

We have this capital that's coming in that increases  -- decreases the credit metrics, I should say.  And at any time you have an increase in capital spend, you will have an increase in what I could refer to as operating risk.  You have more capital per revenue come in.  That inherently makes you more risky because you have large fixed cost relative to your revenue.  That is dangerous because any time your revenue fluctuates, you still can't do anything about your fixed cost.

That's why, for example, a nuclear generator generally is riskier than a natural gas-fired generator, because natural gas generation can eliminate the fuel cost if you ever shut it down.

A nuclear generator is very limited in what you have in terms of variable cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to decompose this Darlington risk for a second.

So even if you're the best planners in the world, you are going to have some risk that your project isn't going to go the way you planned, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the execution risk, right, that you won't be able to implement what you planned to do?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's execution risk, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there another risk associated with a big capital project, separate from execution risk?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, there is also an increase in what I would call operating leverage, in that any time you engage in a lot of capital spend, you will increase the relative share of your fixed costs relative to your revenue.  So you have less flexibility in terms of what you can do going forward.

Once you've spent your nuclear refurbishment cap ex, it's there.  You can't do much about it, regardless of what the revenue from the company would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it your view that each time a regulator -- I'm not speaking just of this regulator, any regulator that you appear before, that each time a regulator has to set the rates for a company, they should look at whether their risks are higher or lower than the last time they set rates and adjust their allowed equity thickness accordingly?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Most regulators will certainly look at whether risks are higher or lower than the last time they have the same company in for a review.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they adjust the equity thickness accordingly?

DR. VILLADSEN:  In Canada, they would adjust the equity thickness.  In the U.S., they tend to adjust the ROE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My impression of most regulators in North America is that they don't actually like to adjust equity thickness, and they only do it if there's a major change.  Is that fair?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Most adjusted -- in Canada, you rarely adjust it because they don't want to.  But every time you go into a Canadian regulator, in my experience at least, they will discuss whether or not the risks are the same, higher or lower than last time they saw the same company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if there's a small difference, they don't change the equity thickness generally, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Most of them would not.  In the U.S., it's slightly different in that most of them will look at a change in the return on equity rather than a change in the equity thickness.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whereas here in Canada, we often have formulae for the ROE?

DR. VILLADSEN:  The formula has mostly been abandoned except for in Ontario.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I thought there were other jurisdictions that still had the formula.  Is that not true?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Certainly Alberta no longer does.  British Columbia no longer does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Circling back now, you emphasized very much the risk associated with the construction program, which is largely Darlington.

I would like to explore for just a couple of minutes what could this Board do to change your recommendation?  How could its decision affect your recommendation?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I'm not quite sure that I follow you, because I would need to look at some specifics as to see if there's anything we could change that would.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at the touch points.  So for example, one of the big issues associated with the capital program is the possibility of cost overruns and delays, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the big --


DR. VILLADSEN:  That's one possibility, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the biggest issue, right?  True?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It's a big issue, yes, delays.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So would the Board effectively reduce the risk by saying we're going to look at how this project is going two years from now, at the midterm review for example?  We're going to take a close look at how it's going and reassess how we're supporting it two years from now.  Would that change your view?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It all will depend on the specifics. But it's certainly true that if you have more true-up and more frequent true-ups for cost and rate base, et cetera, that would be less risky than when you have a longer period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I take it you'll agree that the Board approving accrual method for pension and OPEBs is not going to change your opinion on equity thickness?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's not going to change my opinion, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if the Board said we're going to approve a rate smoothing mechanism that is not as back-loaded as the current one, that's not going to change your view.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Probably not, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  And if the Board said we're not going to put hydroelectric on IRM, that wouldn't change your view.

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, because all of these have been what I viewed as relatively less of what will be my decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So really when it comes down to it -- and tell me whether this is right -- you're saying this is a utility that is going into a big capital program, that's inherently riskier, and, all other things being equal, they need more equity to support that level of risk; is that fair?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Madam Chair, that's all my questions.  I now have 25 minutes banked for the next one.

MS. LONG:  Doesn't work that way.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Pollock.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Pollock:

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, Dr. Villadsen.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Good afternoon.

MR. POLLOCK:  So I just have a few quick lines of questioning after the thorough cross-examinations from Mr. Shepherd and Ms. Khoo.

So I wanted to start -- I discussed yesterday with Mr. Coyne and Mr. Dane the differences in your approach to screening companies, and you were speaking about it, I think, earlier in your testimony about the benefits that you considered when you were looking at the holding company rather than the operating company.

And I just wondered if you can expand on what those benefits were.


DR. VILLADSEN:  I wanted a direct measure of what investors are looking at and what investors are seeing and not an indirect measure of what is being allowed by regulatory commissions.  So I think if you look directly what investors are seeing in terms of a capital structure from a book value perspective, you get more about what is the market.  That's also what the credit rating agencies are looking at.  They are not looking at what is allowed in any one given jurisdiction.  So I think that's my key concern here.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then the main area that I wanted to talk about very briefly because I think you might have actually answered a lot of my concern is the move in hydroelectric, the IRM.  And I would like to start off by bringing you to page 7 of your report, and for the paragraph that's after the indented quote that starts "Concentric bases its view", and specifically on the fourth line, right at the left-hand side, "while I agree".  Do you see that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  So you say:

"While I agree that performance-based regulation leads to larger variations in revenue and income than does traditional cost of service, the difference depends mainly on the exact implementation of each and the stability of the environment in which the regulated entity operates."

So I'm going to paraphrase you, and let me know if this is fair, but essentially the major impacts of this move will only become apparent when we actually on a case-by-case basis see how the framework is designed; is that fair?

DR. VILLADSEN:  To a degree, but what you have to make sure in the implementation is that it is implemented according to best practices.

MR. POLLOCK:  And, sorry, can you describe what the best practices are for us?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Best practices, broadly speaking, it involved the industry specific, but will depend on, you have to absolutely make sure it's symmetric, you have to make sure that if there is any major accounts that is outside the utility's control you might consider having deferral accounts for those.  In the U.S. that will typically mean fuel adjustment clauses.  And then you have to make sure that there is actually -- that the goals are actually achievable.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So let's hang on to that thought, because I'll circle back around to it in a second.  But I was wondering if we could go to page 31 of the same report.  Then the second paragraph, I guess the first full paragraph, it starts "in Canada", and then I want to go to the sixth line down, where it says "income to OPG".  Do you see that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  So you say:

"Income to OPG may vary more than under a more traditional rate-setting methodology, but to a large degree the impact will depend on the design of the incentive regulation."

And that sort of agrees with the last passage I brought you to, yes?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  And then I think you may have answered this, so I'll put the question to you differently, but I was struck at page 21 of your report, if we can go there, under triple I, "summary", and beginning right after footnote 45, "relative"?  Do you see that?  It would be the second line down.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So you say:

"Relative to the time of the last decision, EB-2013-0321, the key change to OPG's risk is the large construction program and to a lesser extent the expected switch to incentive regulation."

So do I take it correctly from your evidence earlier that when you say that the impact largely has to do with how it's implemented, the reason that you can say sort of before the fact that there is an increase in risk is the idea that variability in itself is a risk that you consider.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, that's what I've discussed with
-- earlier with Mr. Shepherd earlier, that one of the key risks is that you have a larger dispersion around expected outcome, and that is simply a risk.  It could be up, it could be down, but there's a larger dispersion.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So there's two discrete risks.  There is the notional possibility that there could be systemic under- or over-estimation, and then there's the fact that there's variability at all.  Is that right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So in terms of your methodology, I think this was an interrogatory, but we don't have to bring it up.  You can just tell me.  You didn't assume that OPG in its application, you know, whether it would be able to meet its targets.  You just assumed that they would be able to meet the return on equity when you were doing your analysis, correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  When I did my credit metrics analysis I assumed that they would actually be able to earn their return on equity, whatever that is.  I assumed also that the implementation on the IRM would be such that on average you would be on point but the variability would be increased.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So in your opinion the first risk that I mentioned in terms of systemic under- or over-estimation is not really applicable, it's just the second risk that is sort of at issue for this proceeding.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, and we will have to see if there is anything to the first risk.  I assume that the Board will implement the best possible IRM they can.

MR. POLLOCK:  So the way I conceptualize it -- and you can tell me if I'm wrong, but the reason that the variability is in itself a risk is because if I'm an investor and I'm looking at OPG, even if on average they're earning a certain return, the fact that I don't know is in itself a problem, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  On any given year, whether it's --


DR. VILLADSEN:  In any cost of capital, risk and return has to be considered, and at the same time, and the risk is going up because the variability is going up.

MR. POLLOCK:  So I guess I would ask you, is there a mirror risk in terms of ratepayers, is variability a net negative for them as well, in the same fashion that an investor might have a net negative when they don't know, you know, the return on equity is -- from a ratepayer point of view is the variability above and below the return on equity a net negative?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That is certainly true that there would be more variability also around -- rates would be more fixed for ratepayers because you have a plan for what you're going to do, and so in that sense they will face less of a risk on all of a sudden having an increase because cost increases.

At the same time it's clear that they will have a higher likelihood of having over or underpaid relative to the cost.

MR. POLLOCK:  And the fact that there's longer periods of time in between coming back to the Board means that if they were perhaps overpaying that they would take a longer time to be able to reset, and be able to reset the payment amounts to the actual cost, right?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It would be long before the Board could reset, although I assume the Board has the ability to recall any company that might be out of line with what's being determined.

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you.  And if we could go to CME's compendium for Concentric.  And I guess we should start on page 6.  Bottom right hand pagination, I think.  I just wondered if you had ever seen this report from S&P.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I have.

MR. POLLOCK:  If we can go to page 10, I think what they describe is very similar to what you just testified to, and it's at the paragraph that starts, "If a jurisdiction uses incentives", and four lines down, before the end of the fourth line, "An incentive-based program".  Do you see that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  So it says:

"An incentive based program can be close to credit-neutral compared with systems that permit more frequent and dramatic rate changes, if the risk is symmetrical and limited."

I just wanted to get your take on – obviously, we can't know in advance -- I guess I should back up.

Do you agree these are sort of the hallmarks of a system that would be close to credit neutral?

DR. VILLADSEN:  The closer -- you absolutely have to have a symmetric system, and the closer you can get to have less variability, the more credit neutral you would be, yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  So I just wanted to get your thoughts on OPG's application, as it exists right now, and whether or not, and to what degree, it meets the criteria that S&P has mentioned.

So in terms of the risk being symmetrical, do you have any thoughts on the application as it stands and whether the risk is symmetrical?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I didn't see anything specific in there that would indicate risks were not symmetrical.

MR. POLLOCK:  And in terms of the penalty or reward for over- or under-earning, is there anything that would lead you to think that there was a greater penalty than reward, or vice versa?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I didn't see anything specifically, no.

MR. POLLOCK:  And in terms of it being limited, it says a maximum or minimum earnings band.  I wanted to get your thoughts on the dead band, the return on equity dead band in the application, and whether or not that meets this criteria they laid out.

DR. VILLADSEN:  The band is fairly wide compared to what we normally see, and that just means there is more variability than what you would see in most of these plans we see implemented.

MR. POLLOCK:  Do you have a sense of what you think the appropriate band might be?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, not specifically, but the most common bands are more in the range of 100 to 150, maybe up to 200.  It's where you see this wider band.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  I was wondering if we could turn to AMPCO number 1, and I wanted to -- I'll wait until it's up.

So in this interrogatory, AMPCO puts to you the quote from the previous decision of the Board that says basically they're not of the opinion that the move to IR should be resetting equity.  And you did give an answer, specifically the response to B, I think, is the answer that you gave for this one, because the other one is just a reference.  And you make note of the fact that it talks about a future move to incentive regulatory mechanism where it's clearly that the situation is different.

But I was wondering -- I wanted to put it to you again in the full quote, which is at Board Staff compendium for Concentric, and that's the full quote.  And the way I read it -- and I'll give you a second if you need to read it.  But the way I read it is the Board has two points.  One is that they don't accept that moving to incentive regulation significantly increases the risk, such that the capital should be reset.

And second is, in addition to that fact, that stand-alone fact, you know, it's not really a present move at least in the previous decision.  It's a future move so we can deal with it later.

I just wanted to take the first part of it, because your response to the interrogatory was noting there was a difference between a future move and a present move.  And I just wanted to put that to you again, just in terms of the Board's decision that no, we don't think a move to IRM is going to -- is worthy of changing the equity thickness, whether it's your position that they got that wrong?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I wouldn't phrase it that way because all of it will depend on exactly how you implement the IRM. And I think that's – now, I can't put words in the Board's mouth, but if you don't have a concrete proposal, it's hard to say what you should do about equity structure.  You need to know what is it we're looking at before you can possibly make a decision on what you do.

Secondly, I will say that as I emphasize throughout this afternoon, my real concern here is the big cap ex spend.  That's really what drives my recommendation, not this here.  I do think there is a risk here.  I don't think that it's nearly of the magnitude as the cap ex spend.

MR. POLLOCK:  I guess on that topic I'll go to the last thing I wanted to bring you to, which is SEC 9, I think, the interrogatory.

So it references a page in your report.  It's not necessary to turn it up.  But basically, your point here on page 23 -- and you can tell me if I'm wrong -- but there's a lot of execution risk to the DRP, but the execution risk is exacerbated by the fact that it will have to be reviewed by the OEB on the prudence basis before they're allowed to recover those costs.

Is that a fair characterization?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.  Let me clarify what I'm saying here.  It's not that I think that there would be recovery of imprudent cost.  It's that whenever you have a cost overrun, you necessarily have to file a filing with the Board.  The Board has to review it, it takes time, et cetera.   I don't think there should be any recovery of imprudently incurred costs.

MR. POLLOCK:  From an investors' point of view, is the fact that there is such a review -- I appreciate there's the time value, that it takes time to do these things and that is, in itself, a negative for an investor.

But is there an additional negative insofar as there is a possibility they may not get that money back if it was imprudent?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's a slight negative risk here.  I don't think it's that huge an issue, because I don't think that boards or commissions or this Board generally goes around and reject costs that are prudently incurred.

MR. POLLOCK:  I'm certainly not suggesting that.  I'm thinking directionally, there is in fact an added execution risk for an investor looking at OPG that there may be down the line some costs which may not be recovered.

DR. VILLADSEN:  There is a risk that certain costs may not be recovered, yes, or will be recovered at a later date.

MR. POLLOCK:  So insofar as that impacts your equity thickness rating, and it may not be to a great degree, but you would be basically, to use a turn of phrase, punishing ratepayers in terms of getting higher rates because of the equity thickness for the risk that OPG might be imprudent; is that fair to say?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, I don't think that's a fair characterization.  I don't think imprudently incurred costs should be recovered, so I don't think that's really an issue.

It's certainly true that the risks you have here are primarily that you have to spend a lot of cap ex, and you will have to wait to get recovery of that.  Having said that, I don't think there is any imprudence here.  Certainly all different things can happen.  There can be accidents, there can be -- I don't know what can happen eventually down the road.  Time is inherently risky in this kind of business.

MR. POLLOCK:  I certainly don't mean to suggest that anything that's over and above the estimate given is necessarily imprudent.  But to the degree that investors consider it more risky if there's a prudence review, and require a higher amount of equity, and insofar as that higher equity translates into high rates, then the ratepayer is paying for the risk that the Board might be disinclined to allow certain costs.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, but I don't think that really raises to a level of I would have added bases points to my equity recommendation for this purpose.

My recommendation is based on very large capital expenditures and not based on that there would be overruns that were -- that could not be recovered.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Pollock.  I think we'll take our afternoon break for 15 minutes and come back and hear from Mr. Smith.
--- Recess taken at 2:52 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:20 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon, Dr. Villadsen.  I have a few questions for you.  Shouldn't be very long.  The first question builds -- is in relation to credit metrics, and as I understand it, you undertook an assessment -- independent assessment of OPG's credit metrics, correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And Concentric did not do that.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And Concentric relied on the results of OPG's assessment, as you understand it?

DR. VILLADSEN:  As I understand it, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct, however, that the results of your independent assessment, while not identical, were very similar to the results obtained by OPG?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Let me ask you if I could about coal.  Coal is referred to on a number of occasions in your report, and perhaps we could start, if I can ask you to turn to page 16 of your report.

So we have it on the screen.  The paragraph I'm interested in is the paragraph that begins "compared to the sample companies".  And you say there at the end of that first sentence:

"OPG has a larger percentage of nuclear and hydroelectric generation but no coal-fired generation."

And then you go on to observe the percentage of coal-fired generation in Concentric's report.  Do you see that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I see that.

MR. SMITH:  And later in your report, if I can turn to page -- let me get this right.  There's an interesting chart in your report.  It's page 29 of your report, figure 5.  And you have a series of arrows, and in the middle of the figure there's a blue arrow pointing down.  And this is a comparison of the sample group of companies, as I understand it.

And one of the observations you're making there is that OPG has less, indeed, no coal exposure compared to the proxy group, correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct, and also, if I may add that there's no -- the key issue with the coal in the proxy group is that some entities will have significantly coal that has no contracts and no regulation.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  But if we go back to page 16 of your report, you say halfway through this paragraph, sentence beginning "coal-fired generation", and you make the observation that coal-fired generation has come under pressure, including because of the significant cost to adhering to environmental legislation, correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you finish that next sentence -- you again make the observation that OPG no longer burns coal and it has no exposure to coal-related legislation.  Do you see that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it the thrust of what you are saying here and elsewhere in your report is that not having coal decreases relatively -- or I should say acts as more of a counter-balance for those other entities that have coal in their portfolio.  In other words, it's a reason why they are comparable to OPG even if they don't have quite as much nuclear.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That would be true.  Coal would be more riskier than, say, natural gas or hydroelectric, so coal is in the same direction, yes.

MR. SMITH:  But less risky than nuclear.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand your evidence from earlier today, however, you recognize, for better or worse, worse, that there has been a change in the United States?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that change, obviously, as a result of a recent executive order is to attempt to unwind some clean energy proposals at legislation that was brought in by the previous administration.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it that that has changed the pressure that you refer to in this paragraph and elsewhere in relation to coal-fired generation.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That is true.

MR. SMITH:  And directionally at least as you've put it in your report that means that these entities are no longer quite as risky as OPG.

DR. VILLADSEN:  On that one measure, yes, that would be correct.

MR. SMITH:  Would it be fair to say that, having regard to that adjustment, that it would be appropriate to increase your recommendation of 48 percent closer to Concentric's?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No.  And I will explain --


MR. SMITH:  Why do you say that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Because while it's true that the pressure on coal has come down with the new White House we have in the U.S., it is also true that most of these capital expenditures, et cetera, that goes into coal plants in the U.S. are already on the way for reasons that has got little to do with the environmental legislation, but more to do with the fact that coal is more expensive than is natural gas.  Natural gas is so cheap in the U.S. that it drives everything.

MR. SMITH:  I understand what you're saying, which is that natural gas has a comparative price advantage over coal, correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's true.

MR. SMITH:  And that's because the United States is awash in gas.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That is true, and it is also true that there has really not been much change in terms of how utilities view their coal-fired generation.  They're still doing pretty much what they used to do.

MR. SMITH:  But that, of course -- while I understand that answer, that, of course, is not the justification that is set out in your report here where you are focused on environmental legislation, and that has changed.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That has changed.

MR. SMITH:  And that is the risk that you identified in your report.

DR. VILLADSEN:  That is true, and that has changed, although I would have to say we don't know exactly how that's going to play out yet.

MR. SMITH:  No, but we do know directionally when you hold a press conference with a bunch of miners that -- and I -- m-e-i-n-e-r-s (sic) -- that directionally there's no question what the President is intending to do, is there?

DR. VILLADSEN:  There's no question what the President is intending do, but there is some questions as to what individual states are intending to do, and there are some who are already proposing legislation on the state level that might impact this.

MR. SMITH:  That's true, although it's also fair to say that a majority of states in the United States are Republican-controlled, correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  As of today, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And in fact, that's been true for some time, correct?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Let me turn to the next area.  I take it from your report that your report when you wrote it you were aware of the long-term energy plan?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I was, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you were aware of the terms of Regulation 53/05?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you were aware of the support that is reflected in those provisions for the Darlington Refurbishment Program?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I even cite that in my report.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it it's fair to say then that your recommendation of a 48 percent equity ratio is having regard to those provisions?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It has, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And it would be wrong to conclude that the existence of those provisions should result in a lower equity ratio?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That is correct.  As I had discussion with Mr. Shepherd, if you did not have these provisions we would have had a different recommendation.

MR. SMITH:  Let me ask you a question about your review of materials.  I take it because you comment on the risk and have discussed today the risk associated with IRM, you were provided with OPG's pre-filed evidence?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, all the material that was not confidential, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  That's a lot of reading.

DR. VILLADSEN:  I didn't read all of it.

MR. SMITH:  But I take it you did read enough to be familiar with OPG's main regulatory asks on the nuclear and hydroelectric side?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it then that your recommendation of a 48 percent equity ratio is having regard to those regulatory asks, if I can put it that way?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So am I right then that at least implicitly you're assuming approval of OPG's application as filed?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I am assuming that implicitly, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And it would be fair to conclude from that that if the application weren't approved as filed, that could have an impact on OPG's risk?

DR. VILLADSEN:  If there is a material deviation from the ask, yes, it could.

MR. SMITH:  And that could be negative?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It could go either up or down, depending what the Board decides.

MR. SMITH:  Let me ask about -- perhaps I should have done this earlier, but let me ask you about Standard & Poor's, if I could.

Can I ask that Exhibit L, tab 3.1, VECC 8, attachment 3 be pulled up?  This is the S&P global ratings, and I take it from your earlier answer that this is a document you've seen before?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I have, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I could be wrong, but I don't think this has been put to you as of yet.  But you recognize this as S&P's most recent rating for OPG?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Does it have a date on it?

MR. SMITH:  Well, there's an easy way to find out.  If you turn to page 4 of the report -- sorry, can you scan back up?  You'll see there's a box labelled assumptions?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And it indicates that OPG filed a five-year rate application for 2017 to 2021.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. SMITH:  I take it you're not aware of any S&P report that's subsequent to this?

DR. VILLADSEN:  No, I'm not.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  One of the assumptions -- let me ask you this.  I take it these are the main or key assumptions that go into S&P reaching its conclusions?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I would assume so, given they list them here.

MR. SMITH:  Let's look at the fourth one.
"OPG filed a five-year rate application for 2017 to 2021 with regulated nuclear rates under the custom incentive regulation and the regulated hydroelectric rates under the incentive rate-making regulation."

Pausing there, that's this application?

DR. VILLADSEN:  It is.

MR. SMITH:   The next clause:

"We expect OPG will get most of its revenue requirements approved."

Do you see that?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I see that.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it you'd agree with me that that is -- that reflects an assumption by S&P that the application by and large will be approved?

DR. VILLADSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that would include, I take it, OPG's request in relation to equity thickness?

DR. VILLADSEN:  I can't speak for S&P, but I would assume they would have regard to that, yes.

MR. SMITH:  They would certainly be aware of it.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that is a part of OPG's revenue requirement?

DR. VILLADSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  The panel has no questions.  Mr. Richler, any re-examination?

MR. RICHLER:  No, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Dr. Villadsen, for your evidence.  You're excused.

DR. VILLADSEN:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  That concludes our hearing for today.  So we will be back on tomorrow morning at 9:30.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:35 p.m.
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